THIS AGREEMENT made

Between:

FORTISBC Inc. (hereinafter called the "Company")

and

CANADIAN OFFICE AND PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES' UNION, LOCAL 378

representing the employees of FortisBC Inc. affected by this Agreement, (hereinafter called the "Union")

WITNESSETH AS FOLLOWS:

- These provisions shall take effect and be binding upon the Company and the Union for the period commencing <u>January 1, 2014</u> and ending on <u>December 31, 2018</u> save where specific provisions have different and specific effective dates.
- 2. It is hereby agreed that, in accordance with subsection 4 of Section 50 of the Labour Relations Code of British Columbia, subsection 2 and subsection 3 of Section 50 is excluded and shall not be applicable to this Agreement.
- 3. Either Party may at any time within four months immediately preceding the expiry date of this Agreement, give to the other Party written notice of its intention to re-open or amend this Agreement on its expiry date or any day thereafter.
- 4. After the expiry date of this Agreement and until a revised Agreement is signed, this Agreement and all its provisions shall remain in full force and effect without prejudicing the position of the revised Agreement in making any matter retroactive in such revised Agreement.

Table of Contents

ARTICLE 1 - UNION RECOGNITION	5
ARTICLE 2 - UNION SECURITY	7
ARTICLE 3 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	8
ARTICLE 4 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	9
ARTICLE 5 - SENIORITY	11
ARTICLE 6 - EMPLOYEE DEFINITIONS	13
ARTICLE 7 - POSTING OF JOB VACANCIES	15
ARTICLE 8 - NO DISCRIMINATION	17
ARTICLE 9 - CONTRACTING OUT	19
ARTICLE 10 - STRIKES OR LOCKOUTS	20
ARTICLE 11 - LAYOFF AND RECALL	21
ARTICLE 12 – TRANSFER, TERMINATION AND DISCIPLINE	24
ARTICLE 13 - TECHNOLOGICAL AND PROCEDURAL CHANGE	
ARTICLE 14 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE	
ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK, DAYWORKERS AND EDO TIME	30
ARTICLE 16 - SICK LEAVE AND LONG TERM DISABILITY	32
ARTICLE 17 - FLEX BENEFITS PROGRAM	35
ARTICLE 18 - ANNUAL VACATIONS	41
ARTICLE 19 - SPECIAL VACATION	43
ARTICLE 20 - HOLIDAYS	44
ARTICLE 21 - OVERTIME	
ARTICLE 22 - MOVING AND TRAVELLING ENTITLEMENTS	
ARTICLE 23 - SALARY ADMINISTRATION	51
ARTICLE 24 - JOB CLASSIFICATIONS - DESCRIPTION	
ADMINISTRATION	55
ARTICLE 25 - PROTECTIVE CLOTHING	
ARTICLE 26 - TRAINING	
ARTICLE 27 - SAFETY REQUIREMENTS	
ARTICLE 28 - SHIFTWORK, HOURS OF WORK AND CONDITIONS	60
ARTICLE 29 - SHIFT CHANGE AND CHANGE IN STARTING TIME OF	
A WORK DAY	
ARTICLE 30 - SAVINGS CLAUSE	
ARTICLE 31 - COPE-FORTISBC PENSION PLAN	
APPENDIX "A" – ANNUAL SALARY SCALE	
APPENDIX "B" – BI-WEEKLY SALARY SCALE	
APPENDIX "B.1" – HOURLY SALARY SCALE	
APPENDIX "C" - COPE JOB TITLES	/6
LETTERS OF UNDERSTANDING	77
LOU 2 Re: Employment of Students	
LOU 3 Re: Call-out Rest Period	
LOU 4 Re: Joint Job Evaluation System	
LOU 5 Re: Community Ambassador	
LOU 7 Re: Co-Operative Educational Students	
LOU 8 Re: Flexible Work Week	
LOU 11 Re: Technician/Technical Analyst (Information Systems)	
LOU 11 Re: Technician/Technical Analyst (Information Systems)	03

LOU 13 Re: Design Technician/Technologist/ Engineer Technologist	
/AMFM Data Integrity Coordinator	86
LOU 14 Re: Material Services (Buyer, Inventory Analyst, Material	
Coordinator)	87
LOU 15 Re: Seniority Calculation for Part-Time Regular Employees on	
Leaves of Absence	88
LOU 16 Re: COPE and FORTISBC Inc. Labour Management Meetings	89

ARTICLE 1 - UNION RECOGNITION

1.01

- (a) This Agreement shall apply to and be binding upon all employees of the Company described in a Certification issued by the Labour Relations Board, Province of British Columbia, on the 19th day of November, 1980, and which are all employees of the Company employed in its establishment in British Columbia and designated as being "Office, clerical, technical and administrative employees".
- (b) Excluded from the term "employees" in this Agreement are those persons represented by Local Union 213, International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, persons employed in a confidential, supervisory or professional capacity as provided in the Labour Relations Code of British Columbia.

1.02

- (a) The Company recognizes the Union as the exclusive representative of the employees for the purpose of conducting collective bargaining in respect of rates of pay, hours of work and other working conditions; and the Company shall continue to so recognize the Union as long as the Union retains its right to conduct collective bargaining for the employees under the law.
- (b) The Company recognizes the Union's right to select, subject to its sole discretion, Job Stewards and any other Union officials or representatives whose duties involve, in whole or in part, representing employees under this Agreement and the Company agrees to co-operate with these persons in the performance of their duties on behalf of the Union and its membership.
- (c) The Union will notify the Company in writing of the names of the persons authorized to represent the Union and/or the employees for the purposes of this Agreement, and of any changes in these names.

1.03

The Company will make all reasonable efforts or arrangements to grant leave of absence without pay to:

- (a) One employee appointed or elected to Union office for a period up to and including three years;
- (b) A reasonable number of employees elected as representatives to attend Executive Council meetings, conventions or other mutually agreed to activities;
- (c) Essential employees required to attend Labour Relations Board hearings or collective bargaining.

Reasonable notice for such leaves of absence must be given to the Company. Such leaves must be approved by the immediate supervisor and the Human Resources Department. Such requests for time off will not be unreasonably withheld.

1.04

Bulletin Boards shall be made available to the Union for the purpose of posting of Union notices. All notices shall be submitted to the Manager, Labour Relations, or his nominee for information before being posted.

- (a) Duly authorized representatives of the Union, as designated by the Union, shall be granted time off during regular working hours to perform their duties and this time shall be deemed to be time worked. Accordingly, they shall be kept "whole" by the Company with respect to all pay, seniority, benefits and other rights and entitlements which would accrue to them under this Agreement had they remained working. Such time off work shall be for the purpose of investigating and resolving complaints; investigating and resolving grievances, including attending grievance meetings and arbitration hearings; representing employees involved in disciplinary matters; orientation of new employees; distributing Union literature; attending joint meetings of the Company and the Union; or other Union business, and will be reasonable for the circumstances.
- (b) The Company will grant time off with pay for the grievor to permit the investigation and handling of grievances and attendance at grievance hearings, up to and including Stage 3. Such periods of absence shall be deemed to be time worked and will be reasonable for the circumstances.

1.06

It is recognized by the parties to this Agreement that, due to the size and geographic responsibility of the Company, some overlap in duties between employees and non-bargaining unit personnel does or could occur. Similarly, it is recognized that some overlap in duties between employees does or could occur. It is agreed that jobs listed in Appendix "C" will not be assigned to non-bargaining unit employees except to overcome immediate, short-term operational or personnel difficulties.

ARTICLE 2 - UNION SECURITY

2.01

The Company shall deduct, as a condition of each employee's continued employment, Union dues, initiation fees, and special assessments, as established by a vote of the membership and as directed by the Executive of the Union.

2.02

Such Union dues shall commence in the month following the month of hire and be remitted to the Union monthly, together with a list of the name, work location, job title, status and pay group of employees from whom Union dues have been deducted.

2.03

As a condition of employment, within fifteen days of employment with the company, employees shall join and remain members of the Union.

2.04

The parties agree to establish and maintain a Labour/Management forum at least one time per calendar year. The first of such forums will be held within the first 90 calendar days of each year. Included in this forum will be an annual overview of potential contracting out <u>and jurisdictional</u> issues that may affect this Union.

2.05

A list of temporary employees designating the areas and function performed shall be forwarded to the Union quarterly.

2.06

New COPE employees will be introduced to area union stewards who will be afforded the opportunity to discuss Union policy and collective agreement provisions.

ARTICLE 3 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

3.01

All management rights heretofore exercised by the Company unless expressly limited by this Agreement are reserved to and are vested exclusively in the Company.

4.01

The Parties to this Agreement agree that it is of utmost importance to resolve complaints and grievances as quickly as possible in accordance with the procedures set out in this Article. "Grievance" means any difference between the Parties bound by this Agreement concerning its interpretation, application, operation or any alleged violation thereof, including any questions as to whether any matter is grievable. All grievances or disputes shall be settled without stoppage of work, in accordance with the following procedures. All written correspondence to the Union concerning grievances will be sent to both the local's Councilor and the Union office.

4.02 Employee Grievance

Stage 1

The employee or employees concerned, in person, with or without a Union representative in attendance, or a Union representative acting on behalf of an employee or employees, shall first seek to settle the complaint with the immediate supervisor concerned. Such discussion will take place not later than ten working days of the event causing the complaint or within ten working days from the time the employee became aware of the event causing the complaint.

Stage 2

A grievance not settled at Stage 1 above may be referred, in writing to Stage 2 within 10 working days by a representative of the Union to the appropriate Superintendent or Function Manager, or to a nominee appointed by him. Within five working days of the written referral to Stage 2, a Company nominee and a representative of the Union shall meet to investigate and attempt to resolve the grievance. The Company shall reply, in writing, within ten working days of the date of written referral to Stage 2. If the grievance is not settled at this stage, it may be referred to Stage 3 within 20 working days of receipt of the Company's written reply.

Stage 3

A grievance not settled at Stage 2 above may be referred, in writing, by the Union to the Manager, Human Resources, or to a nominee appointed by him. The Parties shall meet as soon as possible and attempt to resolve the grievance. The Company shall reply, in writing, within 15 working days of the date of written referral to Stage 3. If the grievance is not settled at this stage, it may be referred to Stage 4 within 30 working days of receipt of the Company's written reply.

Stage 4

A grievance not settled at Stage 3 above may be submitted by the Union to a Board of Arbitration by written notice to the Manager, Human Resources. The Board shall consist of three members: one to be selected by the Union, one by the Company and a third, mutually acceptable person, who shall act as Chairman, to be chosen by the two persons thus selected. Each Party shall advise the other of its selected member within 20 working days of the date of the notice of intent to submit the grievance to arbitration.

In the event that the member selected by the Union and the member selected by the Company are unable to agree on the selection of the third member, the Minister of Labour of British Columbia shall be requested to appoint such third member.

The Board of Arbitration shall be requested to render a decision within a period of 30 calendar days from the date of appointment of the Chairman.

The decision of the Board of Arbitration, or a majority thereof, shall be final and binding on both Parties.

Each Party shall pay the expenses incurred in connection with the preparation and presentation of its own case. The Parties shall bear in equal shares the expenses of the third member of the Board.

At any time, by the mutual consent of the Union and the Company, a single arbitrator may be appointed in lieu of a Board of Arbitration. The selection of such single arbitrator shall be made by the parties to this Agreement. Should the Parties be unable to agree on a single arbitrator, the Minister of Labour of British Columbia shall be requested to appoint a single arbitrator. The Parties shall bear in equal shares the expenses of such arbitrator.

4.03

The processing of a grievance dealing with suspension or termination will begin with Stage 3. By mutual agreement of the Company and the Union, any other grievance may begin with Stage 3.

4.04 Policy Grievance

Should either the Company or Union consider that an action or contemplated action is, or will become a difference or dispute between the Parties concerning the application, interpretation or violation of this Agreement, then such will be considered a policy grievance and will be dealt with as follows:

- (a) The grieving Party, i.e., the Manager, Human Resources of the Company, or the President of the Union, or their nominee(s), shall initiate the grievance by letter. Within 20 working days of receipt of such written notice, the principals or their nominee(s), shall meet and attempt to resolve the grievance.
- (b) A written response to the Party initiating the grievance shall be forthcoming within ten working days following the meeting. Should such response not result in a satisfactory settlement, the grievance may be submitted to arbitration within ten working days of receiving that response and the other Party shall be so advised.

4.05

Time limits may be extended by mutual written consent of the Company and the Union.

ARTICLE 5 - SENIORITY

5.01

Commencing February 1, 1997, seniority shall be defined as the length of an Employee's continuous service with the Company within the bargaining unit, subject to the other provisions of this Article.

5.02

An employee shall not be deemed to have any seniority until he or she has been employed by the Company, on a continuous basis, for three months. After completion of three months service, seniority shall accrue from the date of employment.

5.03

- (a) The Company shall maintain a record showing the date on which each employee's service commenced and terminated. Any employee may request information from the Company relative to his/her own seniority. A seniority list including, but not limited to, the name, employment status, job title, job group, established headquarters, service date and seniority date of each employee in the bargaining unit shall be prepared quarterly and will be forwarded to the Union office, with a copy to all local representatives of the Union.
- (b) Once the Company prepares a new seniority list it shall be published for employees. Thereafter the Union or any Union member will have 30 calendar days to challenge accuracy of the seniority list.

5.04

- (a) An employee who has been laid off and recalled per Article 11 will maintain their accumulated seniority as before the layoff.
- (b) If an employee with five or more years of seniority in the COPE 378 bargaining unit resigns or otherwise leaves the bargaining unit and subsequently is rehired into the bargaining unit after February 1, 2006, s/he may reinstate this prior seniority to be effective five years after the employee's return to the bargaining unit if:
 - (i) the employee serves notice to the Union of intent to reinstate within two years of his or her return to the bargaining unit; and
 - (ii) the employee satisfies all other terms and conditions of reinstatement as determined by the Union.

5.05

Temporary employees shall be deemed to have seniority after six calendar months, and will be accrued in the ratio of their normal annual hours paid to the total normal annual hours paid for a full-time regular employee.

5.06

Employees classified as part-time regular shall accrue further seniority in the ratio of their normal annual hours paid to the total normal annual hours paid for a full-time regular employee.

Normal annual hours paid including but not limited to:

- Paid regular hours
- Paid medical/dental leaves
- Paid training hours
- Paid sick time
- Paid statutory holidays; and
- Paid annual vacation.

5.07

An employee who is granted a leave of absence from the Company's service shall not lose seniority thereby.

5.08

"Service" for the purpose of this Agreement, shall be established on the basis of employment with the Company, whether or not under the terms of Article 1.01, and shall commence from the date last employed.

5.09

When application of seniority is required to determine priority between two or more employees for any entitlement under this Collective Agreement, their relative seniority shall be determined by a method of random selection mutually agreed upon between the Company and the Union.

ARTICLE 6 - EMPLOYEE DEFINITIONS

6.01 Probationary Employee

- (a) All new employees entering the Company in a job covered by this Agreement shall be considered probationary for a period of six months and may be terminated during this period with one week's notice or pay in lieu of notice.
- (b) The probationary period may be extended by a further period of up to three months by mutual agreement between the Union and the Company. The Company will notify the employee in writing, with a copy to the Union, ten calendar days prior to the expiration of the probationary period in Article 6.01(a) above. The letter extending the probationary period will outline the duration and reasons for such extended probationary period.
- (c) The extended probationary period will be only to allow for further performance assessment, and therefore the Company may terminate the employee during this extended probationary period for reasons of inadequate performance only. All other provisions of the Collective Agreement, including the accrual of seniority, will apply.
- (d) All employees who post into a new classification will serve a trial period of 3 months. If unsuccessful in completing the trial period for performance reasons the employee will revert to their former position as will any backfill. The employee may choose to revert back to their former position within 3 months of posting into the new classification and any backfill in turn will revert to their former position

6.02 Full-Time Regular Employee (FTR)

An employee hired to fill a regular, continuing full-time position. After completion of the established waiting period as set out in Plan documents or as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the employee is entitled to all benefits set out in this Agreement.

- 6.03 Part-Time Regular Employee (PTR)
 - (a) An employee hired to work regular hours or days but who works less than full time hours on a regular and continuing basis.
 - After completion of the established waiting period as set out in Plan documents or as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the employee is entitled to all benefits set out in this Agreement.
 - (b) Any periods of paid absence, excluding Long Term Disability, will be prorated in accordance with time worked. Stat Holidays will be prorated on the basis of hours actually worked to regular hours available for work in the month preceding the Stat Holiday.
 - (c) A part-time regular employee shall be eligible to become a member of the COPE-FORTISBC Pension Plan on the first day of a month, not earlier than the effective date, at which time the employee
 - (i) has completed at least 24 months of continuous service in which he or she has earned at least 35% of the YMPE in each of two consecutive calendar years, and
 - (ii) is actively at work.
 - Pension entitlement will be prorated on the basis of hours actually worked in a given period.
 - (d) The Company shall not hire or use PTR employees to avoid the continuance, creation or filling of positions for or by PTR employees.

6.04 Temporary Employee

An employee hired for a temporary period not to exceed 18 months, part-time or full-time, will work under the following conditions.

- (a) Temporary employees may be hired without job posting for work of a temporary nature for a period of up to six months. Temporary jobs which are anticipated to last longer than six months will be posted. Work of a temporary nature shall include a specific project, work overload, seasonal peaks or replacement purposes (sick leave, maternity leave and other leaves of absence.) The Company will not be obligated to fill the position in which the successful bidder on the temporary job was the incumbent prior to being awarded the temporary job.
- (b) The Parties, by mutual agreement, may agree to a period in excess of that specified in Article 6.04(a) above.
- (c) Temporary employees will receive vacation pay in accordance with Article 18 and 12% in lieu of benefits.
- (d) Sick Leave, unpaid vacation time, and any other periods of paid absence, excluding Long Term Disability, will be prorated in accordance with time worked. In accordance with Article 20.03, Statutory Holidays will be prorated on the basis of hours actually worked to regular hours available for work in the month preceding the Statutory Holiday.
- (e) Temporary employees may be required to complete the temporary assignment for which they were hired prior to filling a job for which they were selected under Article 7 Job Posting. The provisions of Article 7.05 will not apply during this period.
- (f) Upon accepting a regular position, a temporary employee will undergo probation as defined in Article 6.01. If a temporary employee has worked six consecutive months on a full-time basis in a temporary position immediately prior to accepting the same position on a regular basis, the Company shall waive the probationary period.
- (g) A temporary employee shall join the COPE-FortisBC Pension Plan on the first day of the month, not earlier than the effective date, at which time the employee:
 - (i) has completed at least 24 months of continuous service in which he/she has earned at least 35% of the YMPE in each of two consecutive calendar years, and
 - (ii) is actively at work.
 - Pension entitlement will be prorated on the basis of hours actually worked in a given period.
- (h) The Company shall not hire or use Temporary employees to avoid the continuance, creation or filling of positions for or by Regular employees.

ARTICLE 7 - POSTING OF JOB VACANCIES

7.01

- (a) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, all vacancies which occur in regular and temporary jobs covered by this Agreement or developed in accordance with this Agreement, shall be bulletined for a minimum of 5 working days on all appropriate bulletin boards. The bulletin shall include all relevant information including duties, qualifications, wage scale and special conditions.
- (b) A Regular employee who is a successful applicant for a temporary job will return to his/her regular position when the temporary job is concluded.
- (c) The Company reserves the right to post internally and externally simultaneously.

7.02

- (a) Late applications from employees on sick leave, annual vacation, or other authorized leaves shall be considered provided the selection has not already been completed at the time of such application.
- (b) When an employee is on leave for more than five (5) working days, he/she may choose to register a standing application with Human Resources.

7.03

Applicants for job vacancies shall have their application acknowledged electronically and the name of the successful applicant shall be published on the intranet when the selection is made.

7.04

- (a) Preference in selection for vacant jobs within the bargaining unit shall be given to applicants in the bargaining unit who are regular or temporary employees, in that order, provided, in the opinion of the Company, they have the qualifications for the job concerned.
 - Employees shall be selected on the basis of knowledge, ability and performance. Should more than one employee within the unit meet the above requirements, then preference shall be given to the senior employee.
- (b) If there are no applicants within the unit who meet all the above requirements, then the Company may, without re-posting, choose to select an applicant with less than the required qualifications provided that, where two or more employees are comparatively equal in qualifications, preference shall be given to the senior applicant.
- (c) If there are no applicants within the unit suitable for selection, then the Company may fill the vacancy by hiring outside the bargaining unit. Such outside hire will not have less qualifications than was required of internal applicants.
- (d) The Company may invite a representative of the Union from the appropriate business unit to be present at job interviews for COPE 378 positions.
- (e) If a selection has not been made for a posted position within three months of the closing date on the job bulletin, the position will be re-bulletined unless otherwise agreed to between the Company and the Union.

The Company will endeavour to complete the selection procedure within 21 days of the job posting. A successful applicant for any job posting may be held in his present job for 45 calendar days from date of selection. Upon assumption of the new job or after 30 calendar days from the date of selection, whichever shall first occur, the employee will receive the appropriate salary adjustment for his new job. The above time limits may be extended by mutual agreement.

7.06

- (a) The Company will provide to the Councilor (Chief Job Steward) and the Union Office:
 - (i) A copy of each current job posting as it is posted.
 - (ii) A letter which advises the final disposition of that posting.
- (b) The Company will make every effort to finalize all postings in an expeditious manner.

7.07

A copy of the letter of offer to new employees will be forwarded to the Union.

7.08

A successful applicant to a bulletined position shall not be eligible to apply for future bulletined vacancies for a period of 12 months unless agreed to by the Company.

7.09

If in the opinion of the Joint Job Evaluation Committee a job is substantially modified it may be necessary to post it as a new position.

Such substantially modified positions will be posted unless, upon review of the incumbent's seniority, education, experience and skills, the parties mutually agree to waive the posting.

ARTICLE 8 - NO DISCRIMINATION

8.01

The Company, in carrying out its obligations under this Agreement, shall not discriminate in matters of hiring, training, promotion, transfer, layoff, discharge or otherwise because of race, colour, ancestry, place of origin, political belief, religion, marital status, family status, physical or mental disability, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, or age of that person or because that person has been convicted of a criminal or summary conviction that is unrelated to the employment or intended employment of that person or any other grounds under the BC Human Rights Act.

8.02

The Company and Union agree that there shall be no intimidation or discrimination against any employee by reason of his or her being an officer, councillor, representative, steward or member of the Union and there shall be no intimidation or discrimination on the part of any officer, councillor, representative, steward or member of the Union towards any employee of the Company by reason of he or she not being a member of the Union.

8.03 Respectful Workplace

The Company is committed to providing a work environment which promotes respect and is free from all forms of harassment and is supportive of the dignity, self-esteem and productivity of every employee. Any form of harassment of, or by, employees, customers, students, contractors, suppliers or other individuals associated with the Company while engaged in activities pertaining to the workplace will not be tolerated. To that end, the Company's "Respect in the Workplace" policy shall apply.

8.04 Reporting Procedure

The Company and the Union agree that any allegation of harassment should be dealt with in an expeditious manner, and they will encourage their respective representatives to do all they can to ensure that delays in dealing with such allegations are minimized. The process must be fair, consistent, and expeditious.

This procedure is not intended to preclude any other existing recourse that may be available to an employee (e.g. redress through the collective agreement, a Human Rights complaint, criminal charges, or civil litigation).

- 1. An employee who feels subject to harassment should make every effort to tell the offending party to stop such behavior, prior to proceeding with an informal or formal complaint.
- 2. If the problem is not resolved through discussion between the individuals concerned then the employee, or a Union Representative on behalf of the employee, may contact a Human Resources Advisor, who will advise the Union before proceeding with their investigation. All reports of inappropriate conduct will be promptly and thoroughly investigated, and the company will act to ensure that any improper conduct ceases immediately and corrective action is taken to prevent a recurrence. Every effort will be made to keep complaints as confidential as possible.

- 3. In the event the problem is not resolved under (2) above the Employee, or the Union on behalf of the Employee, may pursue other forms of redress.
- 4. No employee will suffer adverse employment consequences as a result of making a good faith complaint or taking part in the investigation of a complaint. An employee who knowingly alleges a false claim against another employee or individual or engages in any acts of retaliation against employees for making a report will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

ARTICLE 9 - CONTRACTING OUT

9.01

The Company will not contract out work normally performed by bargaining unit employees if such contracting out will result in any layoff, termination or downgrading of an existing employee.

9.02 Work Done by Contractors

If it becomes necessary to consider contracting out work covered by Article 1.01, the Company will make every reasonable effort to advise the Union of the particulars at the earliest possible time, and in any event the Company will provide the Union with semi-annual updates of such particulars. The Union will be invited to provide input to and/or review all stages of the contracting out process.

- (a) The Company and the Union agree to a joint process to review potential contracting out proposals. The Company and the Union will appoint 2 representatives. It will be the COPE 378 representative's responsibility to investigate all contracting out proposals prior to the contract being awarded. The COPE 378 representative will investigate items such as:
 - the type and nature of work to be performed;
 - the reason for contracting out, including reasons why the work (all or in part) cannot be performed internally by COPE members;
 - the union status of the proposed contractor; and
 - whether the contractor has exhibited previous problems or is in good standing at FortisBC.

Managers will be notified in writing by COPE378, with a copy to the appropriate Director, of safety or job quality concerns regarding current contractors.

In case of an emergency, the Company reserves the right to review the process with the COPE378 representative after the fact.

(b) Early consideration, following the COPE 378 representative's input, will be given to having the work performed by employees within the bargaining unit before contracting out such work. If the Company decides to contract out work, the work will be performed by an independent contractor.

ARTICLE 10 - STRIKES OR LOCKOUTS

10.01

- (a) The Company shall not cause or direct any lockout of employees during the life of this Agreement; and neither the Union, nor any officer, representative, steward or member of the Union shall in any way authorize, encourage or participate in any strike, walk-out, suspension of work or slow-down on the part of any employee or group of employees during the life of this Agreement.
- (b) Except in cases involving an employee's failure to attend to a real and emergent threat to the safety of any person or property and/or to comply with the terms of any Labour Relations Board Essential Services Order, the Company shall not discipline or discharge an employee for refusing to cross or work behind a lawful picket line.

ARTICLE 11 - LAYOFF AND RECALL

11.01

When, in the opinion of the Company, it is necessary to reduce personnel, the Company will notify the Union immediately and invite them to cooperate in reducing inconvenience to any affected employee. The notice provided will include the anticipated effective date and the number and classifications or job titles of employees who may or will be displaced.

11.02

Layoffs within surplus job classifications shall be carried out in the following order at the headquarters and within the function involved:

- (a) Temporary employees will be released in the inverse order of seniority and without right of recall.
- (b) Regular employees without seniority rights shall be released next without right of recall.
- (c) Full time regular and part time regular employees will be released in inverse order of seniority.

(d) Placement

The Company will first consider the placement of any affected employee(s) as follows:

- (i) To an equal job group vacancy within the same Headquarters. If the employee declines such equal job group vacancy within the Headquarters, the employee shall be terminated and eligible for severance pay as per Article 11.09.
- (ii) To an equal or lower job group vacancy within the Bargaining Unit. If the employee cannot be placed, or declines placement, they may exercise their rights to bump under Article 11.02 (e). In such instances, the Company will consider the suitability of the job to the employee and provide reasonable training. The Union will cooperate by waiving job postings.

(e) Bumping

Full-time regular and part-time regular employees may displace any less senior employee from any equal or lower salary job group or, if unable to exercise or bump within the Headquarters and function, any less senior employee within the Bargaining Unit, provided that he/she has the pre-requisite qualifications and/or experience to perform the normal duties of the job within 60 working days.

- (f) Should an employee who has exercised their bumping rights not be able to perform the normal duties of the new job as set out in Article 11.02 (e) within 60 working days, they shall be permitted to displace either the least senior full time or part time employee in an equal or lower job group within the Bargaining Unit and must be able to perform the new job within a period not to exceed 20 working days.
- (g) Employees displaced by Article 11.02 may in turn exercise their rights under that Article.

11.03

Written notice or pay in lieu of notice will be given to regular employees for layoffs in excess of 13 weeks. Notice will be one week per year of service with a minimum notice of four weeks and a maximum notice of eight weeks. A copy of such written notice will be sent to the Union.

11.04

Employees laid off shall be placed on a recall list for a period of three years. Employees on lay off will keep the Company informed, in writing, of any change in address. Twice annually, the Company will provide a copy of the recall list to the Union.

11.05

Employees who bumped into another position as a result of layoff procedures shall have first claim on filling their former position or a position substantially derived from it if such should become vacant within a period of three years from the bumping date. The job in such instances shall not be bulletined and the employee shall receive the salary which he would have attained assuming he or she had never been bumped from such job.

11.06

New employees will not be hired until laid off employees who have the pre-requisite qualifications and/or experience to perform the normal duties of the job are recalled in their order of seniority. Employees who are laid off and rehired in their original job will be given a salary on rehire which is equivalent to the salary which they would have received assuming they had not been laid off. Employees who are rehired into a different job shall receive a salary on recall which will equal their salary at the time of layoff except that such salary will not exceed the maximum or be less than the minimum salary for that job.

11.07

Notice of recall will be sent by Registered Mail to the last known address of all employees on the recall list. Should an employee change their address during the period of layoff, they will inform the Company of the change by Registered Mail. Such employees will have ten calendar days in which to respond in writing to accept or decline the position. The employee may decline recall to a lower level job and remain on the recall list. An employee who fails to respond to any notice of recall will be deemed to be terminated. The notice of recall will clearly state this requirement.

11.08

An employee on layoff who fails to respond and report to work on recall to a full-time job of a continuing nature of equal or higher salary grade at the same headquarters as that job from which he was laid off, shall be terminated by the Company. Such employee will then receive his full severance pay entitlement.

Should the Company lay off any employee due to a shortage of work, then those employees laid off will be eligible for a severance payment of 2 weeks pay per year of service at the employee's regular rate of pay. Employees may elect to receive their severance pay entitlement at any time during the recall period and in any event of the end of the recall period. Employees accepting the severance pay shall do so as final termination of employment with the Company and will no longer be eligible for any recall rights under the Collective Agreement.

Termination of employment for reasons other than those stated above (i.e. quits or discharge for cause) are not to be construed as layoff.

ARTICLE 12 – TRANSFER, TERMINATION AND DISCIPLINE

12.01

An employee may apply for a transfer to a position of another classification within the same job group. Applications for such transfer shall be made upon request of the employee and will be at the discretion of the Company. Any employee so transferred shall receive the same salary as in his former position.

12.02

- (a) Employees may be dismissed for just and reasonable cause without notice. The burden of proof of just cause shall rest with the Company. The Company shall immediately notify the Union and the Chief Job Steward in writing stating the reasons for the dismissal. In the event the Union is not in receipt of a copy of such written notification and the same is not a willful act on the part of the Company, then such an event shall not be a breach of the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- (b) The Company shall advise an employee in writing of any disciplinary action and the reasons in full for such action, at the time of taking any such action. The Company shall also promptly provide the Union and the Chief Job Steward with a copy of each such disciplinary notice.

12.03

Employees who have completed their probationary period may be terminated for inadequate performance. However, prior thereto, the Company will provide a written notice to the employee with a copy to the Union and the Chief Job Steward outlining the inadequacies and employees will be given a period of up to three months from the date of such notice during which the employee and the supervisor will endeavour to raise the employee's performance to an adequate level. This period will not be less than three months unless otherwise mutually agreed.

12.04

When a Company representative discusses discipline, discharge or termination with any employee a representative of the Union must be present.

12.05

An employee shall have the right to refuse to participate or to continue to participate in any interaction with the Company, or any person acting on behalf of the Company, which he or she believes ought to be subject to Union representation and such Union representation is not present. An employee who exercises this right of "non-participation" shall not suffer any prejudice, penalty, discipline or other adversity as a result.

12.06 Personnel Files

- (a) A personnel file shall be maintained by the Company for each employee in the bargaining unit. With the exception of payroll records, such file shall contain all records, reports and other documentation concerning the employee's employment and work performance.
- (b) No negative comment or report about any employee shall be placed in any personnel file until the employee concerned is first given a copy of the information.
- (c) Upon request by the employee to Human Resources any negative comment or report may be removed from the employee's personnel file 12 months after being written.

12.07 Performance Assessments

- (a) Written performance assessments shall only be used by the Company as a means of assisting in the training and development of employees or to bring to the employee's attention areas that require improvement. An employee shall be given sufficient opportunity to read, review and discuss any such performance assessment. The employee may sign the assessment, which act shall only indicate completion of the assessment, and may write a rebuttal which must also become part of the employee's file.
- (b) A performance assessment which the employee concerned believes is unfair, unreasonable and/or which contains incorrect information shall be subject to revision through the grievance procedure.

12.08 Working Outside the Bargaining Unit

- (a) An employee who accepts a temporary position to an excluded position with the Company outside of the bargaining unit shall accrue seniority for a period not to exceed eighteen (18) consecutive months from the date of commencement of such work. Upon expiry of this time limit, and continuation in the position outside of the bargaining unit, the employee shall lose all seniority accumulated under this Agreement. An employee choosing to return to the bargaining unit will return to their most recently held position within the bargaining unit. An employee shall only have the right to accrue seniority while working outside the bargaining unit one (1) time in any eighteen (18) consecutive month period. It is understood that employees will pay Union dues during this period.
- (b) COPE members who are successful applicants on jobs in another Company Bargaining Unit retain their seniority for a period of two years from the date of leaving the COPE bargaining unit for the sole purpose of applying on future COPE job bulletins.

ARTICLE 13 - TECHNOLOGICAL AND PROCEDURAL CHANGE

13.01

The Company will provide the Union with as much notice as possible prior to introducing automation or new equipment or procedures which will result in the displacement or downgrading of any employee(s) covered by this Agreement.

13.02

Employees becoming redundant due to new equipment or procedures shall be eligible for re-training providing that they have the necessary basic education and attributes to absorb such training, to equip them for the operation of such new equipment or procedure. The Company will provide such re-training without loss of pay to the affected employees.

13.03

- (a) In cases where an employee is not trainable for the operation of new equipment or procedures, or whose position becomes redundant, the provisions of Article 11.02 will apply. In the event the employee cannot be retrained, placed, is unable or elects not to exercise their bumping rights, he/she will receive one month minimum notice of layoff prior to being placed on the recall list. Notice is deemed to have been given at the time the employee is formally notified that his or her job is redundant. Severance pay will be in accordance with Article 11.
- (b) The application and order of the procedures under the above will be applied in respect of any employee who subsequently becomes affected by another employee exercising their rights as a result of technological and procedural change.

13.04

Temporary employees and employees serving their probationary period have no rights under this Article.

ARTICLE 14 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE

14.01

Compassionate leave of absence of three days with pay will be granted an employee, upon application, in the event of the death of a spouse, parent, child, brother, sister, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, grandchild or grandparent of the employee. Additional compassionate or other leave with pay may be granted at the discretion of the Company by application to the Human Resources Department.

14.02

An employee who is subpoenaed as a witness and appears, or who attends for jury duty, or who serves on a jury shall continue to receive his regular salary. The employee concerned agrees to turn over to the Company on request any monies received for performing this public duty.

14.03

Employees who wish to run for public office will be granted leave of absence without pay on request, and may continue to participate in the Company's welfare and pension plans provided the total cost of such plans are borne by the employee.

14.04

Employees who are elected or appointed to Union office or elected as an M.L.A. or M.P. shall be granted leave of absence without pay on request. Such employees may continue to participate in the Company's welfare and pension plans provided the Company's cost share is borne by the Union or the employee. Employees on such leave shall continue to accrue seniority and service with the Company and on request will be re-employed in a position in the same Job Group as formerly held subject to such position becoming available, or any such other job which the employee may be qualified to fill. To better ensure the availability of such jobs, the returning employee should provide a maximum amount of notice of intent to return.

14.05

Subject to Company approval, employees may be granted other leaves of absence without pay, including leave to attend an educational institution, subject to the provisions of Article 14.03 in respect of participation in the Company's welfare and pension plans.

14.06

- (a) The Maternity Leave provisions contained in the Province of British Columbia Employment Standards Act in effect on May 1, 2006 will apply.
- (b) Employees who are on maternity leave and who have given birth to a child shall receive a six-week Maternity top-up to E.I. benefits as follows:
 - (i) During the first six weeks of maternity leave the Company will pay a bi-weekly amount which, together with E.I. maternity benefits, will bring the employee's gross earnings up to 100% of pre-leave earnings in accordance with Appendix "B" and the Rate Calculation Period as defined in the Employment Insurance Act.

- (ii) The Company's contributions pursuant to the foregoing shall not reduce the employee's paid sick leave allowances or any other of the employee's time-off entitlements. However, the Company's contributions are limited to the equivalent of the employee's balance of paid sick leave allowances in other words, an employee is not entitled to a greater "sick leave" benefit under this Article than she would be for any other disability.
- (iii) Payment of the top-up (following the two-week E.I. waiting period) is subject to the employee submitting proof of receipt of E.I. benefits during the applicable period.
- (iv) If a medically-substantiated illness or injury related to pregnancy or childbirth continues past the six week period, the employee may be eligible for a continuance of payments through the Maternity Top-Up Plan up to the limit of the employee's sick leave entitlements in accordance with Article 16.
- (v) The disability-related portion of the maternity leave is considered part of the term of maternity leave.

14.07

The Parental Leave provisions contained in the Province of British Columbia Employment Standards Act in effect on May 1, 2006 will apply.

14.08

- (a) A regular employee who terminates by not returning to work following maternity leave or a combination of maternity and parental leave, in accordance with Article 14.06 and 14.07, may obtain the right to apply for job bulletins.
- (b) In order to qualify for the right to apply for job bulletins, the employee must advise the Company of her decision to resign not later than 12 weeks from the commencement of her leave of absence as per Article 14.06. The Company may immediately proceed to fill the resultant job vacancy on a permanent basis.
- (c) The right to apply for job bulletins will be in effect for two years from the commencement of the employee's leave. The employee's seniority will continue to accrue to the date of her resignation and will bridge to her return to work date should she be the successful applicant in a job competition. The employee must be available to return to work within 30 days of notification of being the successful applicant in a job competition. Otherwise, the supervisor may consider her to have withdrawn from the competition.

14.09 Leaves of Absence - Education

Employees may be granted leave of absence without pay upon request for the purpose of attending full-time studies at a recognized educational institution, under the following conditions:

(a) The employee must provide their Manager written notice at least 4 calendar months prior to the commencement date of the desired leave;

- (b) The Company may recruit for a temporary replacement pursuant to Article 6, for the period of the employee's absence. In the event the Educational Leave of Absence is expected to extend beyond 18 months, 6.04 (a) will not apply to the temporary replacement. The employee's leave shall commence on the day specified by the notice above whether or not a replacement has been recruited;
- (c) By notifying the Company in writing, the employee shall make themselves available for work within one calendar month of the end of the requested time, Educational Leaves of Absence will not exceed four years;
- (d) The above time limit may be extended by mutual agreement between the employee and the Company. If the time limit is not extended and the employee does not make themselves available for work within the time limit, the employee shall be presumed to have terminated on the last day of the time requested;
- (e) The employee shall not lose seniority as a result of the absence and shall not accrue seniority during the period of absence; and
- (f) The employee may elect to remain covered by any of the benefit plans of Article 17 and 31 (subject to the rules of the Pension plan document), provided the total costs of such plans are borne by the employee.
- (g) Employees must reapply on an annual basis to renew their leave. The Company will not unreasonably deny the employee's annual reapplication during his or her Education Leave of Absence.

ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK, DAYWORKERS AND EDO TIME

15.01 Workday

- (a) Full-time Regular employees (FTR) shall work 8 hours per scheduled working day. The starting time of the workday shall be 8:00 a.m. Hours of work shall be posted at each headquarters. Variations in the starting time between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 10:00 a.m. may be made without penalty for the efficiency of operations.
- (b) Unless otherwise agreed with the Union, a part-time regular employee will work according to an assigned regular schedule, but will not work more than 60 hours per bi-weekly pay period except that the employee may in addition relieve a full-time employee on leave of absence, sick leave or annual vacation without change to full-time regular status. Part Time Regular (PTR) employees will be scheduled for a minimum of four hours per shift and a minimum of 24 hours bi-weekly.

Hours in addition to those previously scheduled will be offered on the following basis:

- (i) PTR Employees currently on shift will be given first right of refusal in order of seniority, then
- (ii) All other PTR Employees in order of seniority.
- (c) Temporary employees working full-time hours shall work 7½ hours per scheduled working day. The hours of work for Temporary employees working part-time hours shall be in accordance with Article 15.01 (b). After PTR employees, Temporary employees will be offered, in order of seniority, any available hours of work.
- (d) The workday will be broken by a ½ hour unpaid meal break at or near the midpoint of the workday. There is no unpaid meal break for 4 hour shifts.
- (e) Two relief periods of 10 minutes each shall be permitted in each workday, to be taken at or near the midpoint of each shift before and after the meal break. Such relief periods shall be considered as time worked. One relief period of 10 minutes shall be permitted for shifts less than six hours.

15.02 Workweek

- (a) The workweek for all Full-time Regular employees and Temporary Employees working full-time hours will be Monday to Friday. Full-time Regular employees shall bank ½ hour for each 8 hour day worked to average a 37 1/2 hour work week.
- (b) The workweek for all Part-time Regular employees and Temporary employees working part-time hours will be Monday to Friday, unless provided otherwise in this Collective Agreement.

15.03 Short Term Shift Assignment

- (a) Where, in order to overcome immediate, short-term operational or personnel difficulties, it is necessary to schedule a normal dayshift worker to shiftwork, the provisions of Article 28.01, 28.02 and 28.08 shall not apply. Where a short change occurs, the provisions of Article 29.01 shall apply and in all other cases the provisions of Article 28.06 will apply.
- (b) An employee assigned to short-term shiftwork under the provisions of Article 15.03(a) shall not be assigned to shiftwork more frequently than four times annually. Further, the aggregate short-term shift assignments shall not exceed 12 working days annually.

15.04 Administration of Earned Days Off (EDO) Program

- (a) Entitlement to EDO Days is restricted to
 - (i) Full-time Regular employees, and
 - (ii) Part-time Regular employees where part-time work is based on 5 days per work week with a minimum schedule of 20 hours per work week.

(b)

- (i) Full-time Regular Employees will bank time for EDO Days in accordance with Article 15.02
- (ii) For Part-Time Regular Employees, fifteen minutes of each day worked will be placed in the Employee's EDO day bank.
- (iii) Notwithstanding, 15.04(b) (ii), where a part time regular employee is covering a full time position on a temporary basis, they will be eligible for EDO's in accordance with Article 15.02(a).
- (c) EDO days shall be scheduled by mutual agreement between the Employee and the manager. Where scheduling conflicts occur with departmental requirements or in single person district operations, other scheduling agreeable to the affected employee shall occur.
- (d) Any time banked for EDO days that is not taken or scheduled to be taken by December 31st of each year will be paid out by the second pay period of the following year.
- (e) It may be necessary for an employee to be assigned to relieve an employee absent on an EDO day or EDO days. Temporary promotion adjustments as set out in Article 23.05(b) will not apply.
- (f) The provisions of 15.01(a), 15.02 and 15.04 shall also apply to employees assigned to shift work under Article 28.04.

ARTICLE 16 - SICK LEAVE AND LONG TERM DISABILITY

Basic Sick Leave Plan

16.01

An employee becomes eligible for paid Basic Sick Leave Benefits commencing with the date of hire.

16.02

Employees who are unable to work as a result of illness or accident will be eligible to receive the following benefits:

Service with the Company	Full Regular Earnings for	Followed by Two-thirds (2/3) Regular Earnings for
Less than 1 year	1 Month	5 Months
1 year but less than 2 years	2 Months	4 Months
2 years but less than 3 years	3 Months	3 Months
3 years but less than 4 years	4 Months	2 Months
4 years but less than 5 years	5 Months	1 Month
5 years or more	6 Months	

16.03

The full benefit period is reinstated after one week back to active employment if a subsequent disability is unrelated and after one month back to active employment if the subsequent disability is related.

Long Term Disability

16.04

An employee becomes eligible for Long Term Disability protection following three months continuous service.

16.05

Long Term Disability Benefits commence after Basic Sick Leave Plan Benefits have expired. The benefit amount is as per Article 17.

16.06 Benefit Period:

Service with the Company	Length of Benefit
3 Months but less than 1 year	2 years
1 year but less than 3 years	4 years
3 years but less than 4 years	6 years
4 years but less than 5 years	8 years
5 years or more	Until normal retirement

16.07 General

The full cost of sick leave is borne by the Company. The full cost of LTD base level option 1 is borne by the Company.

16.08

Benefits under both Plans will be reduced by the amount of any benefits the employee may be eligible to receive through Canada Pension Plan Disability benefits, Workers' Compensation or similar programs. Benefits payable under individually purchased policies are, however, excluded.

Employees are not eligible for coverage under the above Plans in the following cases:

- (a) While the employee is on Maternity Leave
- (b) Where the employee is not on the Active Roll by reason of layoff or unpaid Leave of Absence.

16.10

For purposes of this Article, the following definitions apply:

- (a) Regular earnings is the straight time base salary rate of an employee the day prior to the first day of absence.
- (b) Month refers to any 30 consecutive calendar days.
- (c) Week refers to any five consecutive working days.
- (d) Year refers to any consecutive 365 calendar day period.

16.11

(a) Medical Certificates

- (i) At the request of the Company, employees will provide satisfactory medical certification substantiating any disability extending beyond five working days. In all cases where an employee has been absent, under either Plan, for a period in excess of one month, he or she must provide medical certification of his or her fitness to return to work.
- (ii) The Company will pay the doctor's fees for completion of documents related to medical certification required in (i) above.

(b) Formerly WKP-OTEU 83-2 – Sick Leave Abuse

The Union agrees that regular attendance at work is desirable and it will not condone any employee abuse of the Sick Leave provisions of the Collective Agreement. Where the Company has reasonable grounds to suspect sick leave abuse, the Company has the right to require an employee to provide a Doctor's certificate for any absence on sick leave. Furthermore, the Company may, at its discretion, require employees to undergo a medical examination by a physician of the Company's choosing.

(c) Formerly FBCE LOU 22 – LTD Employees Returning to Work

- (i) The Company may post a vacancy created by a regular employee on approved sick leave where the medical information on record is inconclusive as to the ability to return to work after a reasonable period of time.
- (ii) When employees return from a period of sickness or disability after their position has been filled, the Company will attempt to place them in a regular position for which they are qualified, subject to the agreement of the Union. The position will be at the same salary level, or as near as possible to the employee's previous rate.
- (iii) In the event placement is not immediately possible, or the employee does not wish to accept the placement(s) offered, the employee may choose to bump back into their previously held position if it is occupied by a less senior employee. This bumping option is limited to a period of two years from the date Long Term Disability payments became effective.

- (iv) If their previously held position is occupied by a more senior employee, the employee will be entitled to exercise their bumping options and/or layoff to recall protection pursuant to Article 11.
- (v) If the employee returns after more than two years from the date Long Term Disability payments became effective and there are no placement options, or the employee chooses not to accept the placement options offered, the employee will be placed on the recall list pursuant to Article 11.

Medical / Dental Appointments

16.12

Wherever possible, employees shall schedule medical and dental appointments outside of normal working hours. Regular employees who go for medical and dental appointments will not have any such time deducted from their sick leave or their pay where the period of absence from work is two hours or less. Medical and dental appointments requiring an absence from work beyond two hours will result in the excess over two hours being deducted from sick leave or from pay (if paid sick leave is exhausted). Managers at their discretion may grant extra time without deduction in locations where medical and dental facilities are remote.

(b) The Union agrees that employees should cooperate with their Manager by providing as much notice as they can of pending medical and dental appointments; this is to facilitate replacement staff and scheduling of work. Furthermore, the Union will encourage its members to make every effort to schedule their appointments on EDO days, near the end of a working day or lunch time to help minimize the impact of medical or dental appointments.

ARTICLE 17 - FLEX BENEFITS PROGRAM

17.01 Eligibility

Full Time Regular employees and Part Time employees working a minimum of 18.75 hrs per week and /or total of 37.5 hrs bi-weekly shall be eligible to participate in the Benefit Plan (Article 17.04). Part time employees hired prior to October 18, 2012, will be grandfathered with full-time equivalent benefits and will be eligible to participate in the Retiree Benefit Plan. Temporary employees receive payment in lieu of all benefits consistent with Articles 6.03 and 6.04.

17.02 General

- (a) Effective March 1, 2013 a New FLEX Benefits Program shall be implemented. As per the Article 17.04 New Flex Benefits Summary.
- (b) Details are as per the attached New Flex Benefits Summary. The base option for Extended Flex Benefits shall be Option 4.
- (c) The cap on Company funding for this Flex Benefits Program will be 8.3%. This cap will be applied to total base payroll 2 years in arrears to yield the Company's benefit funding level for the current year (eg. 2012 base payroll x Cap % = 2014 Company funding).
- (d) In the first pay period of the calendar year, as part of the Flex Benefits Program, employees shall be credited with a 2% of base pay power credit which may, at the employee's option, be taken as Paid Days Off (PDO's) (@ 0.4% per day) or converted to a Health Spending Account (HSA), Group RRSP, cash, or applied to purchase benefits, in any combination not exceeding the 2% entitlement.
 - 1. In November of each year, if an employee chooses not to make an election, the unused power credit will be paid out as cash.
 - 2. Cash and Group RRSP contributions shall be credited on a per pay period basis (24 pay periods).
 - 3. HSA shall be credited at the beginning of the calendar year.
 - 4. Elected PDO time is credited at the beginning of the calendar year, and shall be prorated for employees who leave the Company during the same calendar year.
 - 5. PDOs will be scheduled by mutual agreement between the employee and the manager. A maximum of 5 PDO days may be taken in the calendar year. Any PDO days not taken or scheduled to be taken by December 31st of each year will be paid out by the second pay period of the following year.
- (e) For purposes of determining an employee's group life insurance coverage, "annual earnings" shall be computed annually based on salary scales in effect on November 1st prior to the plan year. "Annual earnings" for eligible new employees will be calculated effective the date of employment or date of status/affiliation transfer.
- (f) An employee receiving Long Term Disability (LTD) benefits under Article 16 shall remain covered for the Life Insurance coverage in effect immediately prior to the disability.
- (g) The LTD Plan is subject to terms and conditions of the Contract with the Underwriter.
- (h) It is understood that the LTD Plan may be altered or amended from time to time to reflect changes made under Article 16.

- (i) While the benefits of this Plan include payments by government plans, such as Canada Pension and Workers' Compensation, the initial benefit under this Plan will not be reduced even if there are subsequent increases in government plans' payments.
- (j) An employee on leave of absence without pay, for reasons other than sick leave or maternity leave for a period of 15 days or more in any calendar month is required to reimburse the whole cost of Flex Benefit Plan as outlined in Article 17.02 above in respect of that month.
- (k) The Company will provide the Union with a copy of each Benefit Plan contract and any amendments made to such contracts.

17.03 Change in Benefits Carrier

The Company will ensure that employees shall suffer no loss or reduction of benefits coverage as a result of a change in carrier(s) of the Benefit Plan(s).

17.04 New Flex Benefits Summary

The below details the New Flexible Benefits Plan effective March 1, 2013:

MSP			
Funded	Flex Credit or Payroll Deductions = FTR 100% & 50% PTR (working a minimum of 18.75 hrs per week and/or total of 37.5 hrs bi-weekly)		
Taxable	Depends on payment method, not taxable if paid by payroll deductions, taxable if paid by flex credits		
Opt Out	Employees can opt out if covered under another plan. Portion of flex credits are credited back to the employee to use elsewhere.		
Employee Eligibility	FTR & PTR (working a minimum of 18.75 hrs per week and/or total of 37.5 hrs bi-weekly) TMP – ineligible		
Dependent Eligibility	Spouse and Children (to age 19 or full time students to age 25)		
Waiting Period	1st of the month following date of hire		
EXTENDED HEALTH CARE			
Funded	Flex Credit or Payroll Deductions = FTR 100% & 50% PTR (working a minimum of 18.75 hrs per week and/or total of 37.5 hrs bi-weekly) of Base Option		
Opt Out	Employees can opt out. Portion of flex credits are credited back to the employee to use elsewhere.		
Employee Eligibility	FTR & PTR (working a minimum of 18.75 hrs per week and/or total of 37.5 hrs bi-weekly) TMP – ineligible		
Dependent Eligibility	Spouse and Children (to age 19 or full time students to age 25)		

	Option 1	Option 2	Option 3	Option 4 - Base
Deductible	N/A	\$100	\$0	Option \$0
Lifetime Maximum	N/A	\$500,000	\$1 Million	\$1 Million
Co-insurance	N/A	60%	80%	100%
Prescription Drugs	1 1/12		3070	
Pay Direct Card	N/A	Yes	Yes	Yes
Formulary	N/A	LCA	LCA	LCA
Dispensing Fee Cap.	N/A	\$9.50	\$9.50	\$9.50
Life Style Drugs (Oral Contraceptives,	IV/A	Oral	\$9.30	\$9.50
Anti-Obesity, Smoking Cessation, Fertility Drugs, and Erectile Dysfunction)	N/A	Contraceptives and Anti- Obesity Only	Yes	Yes
Annual Drug Max.	No	No	No	No
Paramedical				Option 4 - Base
Practitioners	Option 1	Option 2	Option 3	<u>Option</u>
Acupuncturist	N/A	N/A	\$250	\$400
Podiatrist	N/A	N/A	\$250	\$400
Psychologist	N/A	N/A	\$250	\$400
Speech Language	N/A	N/A	\$250	\$400
Pathologist	N/A	N/A	\$250	\$400
Chiropractor	N/A	N/A	\$250	\$400
Naturopath	N/A	N/A	\$250	\$400
Physiotherapist	N/A	N/A	\$250	\$400
Massage Therapist	N/A	N/A	\$250	\$400
Dietician	N/A	N/A	\$250	\$400
Osteopath	N/A	N/A	\$250	\$400
Chiropodist	N/A	N/A	\$250	\$400
Private Duty Nursing	N/A	\$25,000 LTM	\$25,000 LTM	\$25,000 LTM
Standard Durable Medical Equipment	Option 1	Option 2	Option 3	Option 4 - Base Option
Lifetime Maximum	N/A	Subject to	Subject to	Subject to overall
		overall EHC	overall EHC	EHC Lifetime
		Lifetime	Lifetime	Maximum
		Maximum	Maximum	
Medical Aids and Supplies	Option 1	Option 2	Option 3	Option 4 - Base Option
Hearing Aids	N/A	Dep. child only to a maximum of \$500 / 5 calendar years	\$500/5 yrs	\$500/5 yrs
Orthopedic Shoes / Orthotica	N/A	N/A	Combined annual max. of \$400 Adult \$200 Child \$200/ 24 mths	Combined annual max. of \$500 Adult \$300 Child \$400 / 24 mths
Wigs & Hairpieces	N/A	\$600 LTM	\$600 LTM	\$600 LTM

<u>Vision Care</u>	Option 1	Option 2	Option 3	Option 4 - Base Option				
Eye Glasses/Contact Lenses	N/A	No	\$150/24 Mths	\$250/24 Mths				
Eye Exams	N/A	No	\$100/24 Mths	\$100/24 Mths				
Hospital – Semi Private Room	N/A	Yes	Yes	Yes				
Emergency Ambulance	N/A	Yes	Yes	Yes				
Out of Province		der the Travel C	are Program					
GROUP LIFE INSUF								
Funded	100% of the credits	e cost of Basic ar	nd Voluntary Life p	provided via flex				
Employee Eligibility	FTR & PTR of 37.5 hrs t TMP – ineli	oi-weekly)	nimum of 18.75 hrs	per week and/or total				
Waiting Period	Date of Hire)						
Basic Life Insurance	1 x Annual	Salary						
Opt Out	No - Manda	No - Mandatory						
Voluntary Life	1 x Annual Salary							
Opt Out	Yes – exces	Yes – excess credits funded to employee						
Employee Optional Life	Units of \$50	Units of \$50,000, Maximum \$750,000						
Spouse Optional Life	Units of \$50	0,000, Maximum	n \$750,000					
Child Optional Life	\$10,000							
ACCIDENTAL DEAT								
Employee Eligibility	FTR & PTR of 37.5 hrs t	oi-weekly)	imum of 18.75 hrs	per week and/or total				
Waiting Period	Date of Hire Optional	;						
Employee Accidental Death & Dismemberment	Units \$50,000, Maximum \$500,000							
Spousal Accidental	Spouse unde	er the age of 70						
Death &	Units \$50,00	00, Maximum \$3	500,000					
Dismemberment Child Agaidental	Children to	aga 10 an full tim	ma atudanta ta aza C	05				
Child Accidental		age 19 or full tir	ne students to age 2	43				
Death & Dismemberment	\$10,000							
Dismemberment								

DENTAL									
Funded	Flex Credit	or Payroll	Deductions =	FTR 100% & 50	% PTR				
	(working a minimum of 18.75 hrs per week and/or total of 37.5 hrs								
	bi-weekly)	bi-weekly) of Base Option							
Opt Out	Employees	can opt ou	it. Portion of	flex credits are cre	edited back to				
		the employee to use elsewhere.							
Employee Eligibility				of 18.75 hrs per w	eek and/or total				
	of 37.5 hrs bi-weekly)								
	TMP – ineligible								
Dependent Eligibility				ull time students t					
	Option 1	<u>Option</u>	$\frac{2}{2}$ Opti	Ontion	Option 4				
Deductible	N/A	No		Option No	No				
Plan A - Basic	1 \ /A	110		140	110				
Preventative &	N/A	60%		90%	100%				
Restorative Services					- 0 0 , 0				
Plan A - Endodontic									
& Periodontic	N/A	60%		90%	100%				
Services									
Plan B - Major									
Restorative - Crown,	N/A	50%		70%	80%				
Dentures									
Plan C - Orthodontics	N/A	N/A		50%	60%				
Maximums									
Plan A & B (Annual)	N/A	\$1,500	0	\$2,500	\$3,000				
Plan C (Lifetime)	N/A	N/A		\$3,000	\$3,500				
LONG TERM DISAE		aid (Ontia	n 1 Daga On	ti au					
Funded			on 1 - Base Op	pt TMP receives	Ontion 1 Dags				
Opt Out	Option)	ne of four	options (exce	pt Tivir receives	Option 1 – base				
Eligibility	Eligibility p		16						
	FTR, PTR &								
Waiting Period			of continuous l	nire					
Indexing	Optional –5			0 1: 2	0 1: 1				
	Option		Option 2	Option 3	Option 4				
	Base O ₁	<u>Juon</u>	60%	70%	60%				
Coverage	70% Tax	vable .	non-	Indexed-	Indexed-non-				
Coverage	7070 143	Audic	Taxable	Taxable	Taxable				
Maximum	\$15,000 Mc	onthly		1 11 11 1					
PAID SICK LEAVE									
Funded			l with eligibili	ty as per Article 1	6				
Eligibility	FTR, PTR	&TMP							
Waiting Period	Date of hire	;							
Coverage	100% or 2/3 ^{rds} of earnings up to 26 weeks while ill or injured								
	Percentage of coverage varies depending on years of service								

TRAVEL CARE	
Funded	100% Company Paid
Eligibility	FTR & PTR (working a minimum of 18.75 hrs per week and/or total of 37.5 hrs bi-weekly) TMP – ineligible
Dependent Eligibility	Spouse plus dependent children. Children up to the age of 19 or up to the age of 25 if full time student, or any age if disabled.
Deductible	No
Coverage	100% Eligible Emergency Medical Expenses to a lifetime maximum of \$1,000,000
BUSINESS TRAVEL	ACCIDENT INSURANCE
Funded	100% Company Paid
Eligibility	All Employees
Waiting Period	Date of Hire
Coverage	3 X Annual Salary
HEALTH CARE SPE	ENDING ACCOUNT
	Employees may direct excess flex credits towards a Health Spending Account. Employees will have two years to spend funds allocated to their HSA

17.05 Retiree Benefits

Eligible employees who retire during the term of this collective agreement will receive retiree benefits per the 2006 to 2011 collective agreement as amended in the Memorandum of Agreement signed by the Parties on October 18, 2012. These Plan details will be posted on the Company electronic information site. The Parties agree that the terms of the retiree benefits will be renegotiated upon the expiry of this agreement.

ARTICLE 18 - ANNUAL VACATIONS

Effective January 1st, 2006, regular employees will be granted annual vacation entitlements as provided below.

18.01 Year of Hire Vacation Entitlement

For new employees, from their date of hire, 3 weeks' annual vacation will be granted on a pro-rated basis in their year of hire.

18.02 Annual Vacation Entitlements

Employees will be granted vacations based on service at the previous December 31st as follows:

1 through 6	3 weeks
7 through 16 years	4 weeks
17 through 24 years	5 weeks
25 through 29 years	6 weeks
30 or more	7 weeks

18.03

Vacations may be taken in weekly blocks but normally at least two weeks of the year's entitlement must be taken as a continuous period. Employees will select vacation periods in order of seniority. However, only one vacation period will be selected by seniority until all employees in a Department or Office have selected one period. Subsequently, all employees in the Department or Office having additional vacation shall select in order of seniority for a second vacation period and again for additional periods until all vacations have been chosen.

18.04

For purposes of this Article, a week of vacation shall constitute 37 1/2 hours.

18.05

Vacation pay shall be based upon an employee's regular base salary rate in effect on the day preceding a paid vacation or, depending upon the vacation entitlement, 4% (2 weeks), 6% (3 weeks), 8% (4 weeks), 10% (5 weeks), 12% (6 weeks) or 14% (7 weeks) of actual gross earnings during a calendar year, whichever is the greater. Adjustments in respect to vacation pay shall be made by April 1 of the following year or upon termination.

The additional annual vacation days in article 18.06 will factor into the calculation based on an employee's current % for the annual vacation payout adjustment.

18.06

In the year prior to becoming entitled to four, five or six weeks' annual vacation, an employee shall receive an increased annual vacation based on the date his/her service anniversary occurs in that year, as follows:

•	
Service Anniversary Date	Additional Annual Vacatio
(both dates inclusive)	
January 1 to March 14	5 work days
March 15 to May 26	4 work days
May 27 to August 7	3 work days
August 8 to October 19	2 work days
October 20 to December 31	1 work day

Where an accumulation of absences exceed six months in a calendar year due to sick leave, long term disability or Workers' Compensation injury, vacation entitlement in the following calendar year will be reduced by 1/6 for each full month of absence in excess of six months.

During the year an employee is away due to illness where their vacation entitlement would be reduced in accordance with Article 18.07 or 18.08, the employee may elect to:

- (a) Carry over enough regular vacation days to a maximum of their following year entitlement, to bring them to a full vacation entitlement year, or
- (b) Elect to have the current regular vacation balance paid out at the current year end.

18.08

For absences other than those specified in Article 18.07 above:

Where an accumulation of such absences exceed three calendar months in any calendar year, annual vacation in the following calendar year will be reduced by 1/9 for each full month of absence in excess of three months.

18.09

An employee who has scheduled a vacation period and is unable to take it because of sickness or accident may, upon notification to his supervisor postpone such vacation provided that mutual agreement can be reached to reschedule such vacation within the same calendar year. Vacations postponed due to accident or sickness during the month of December may be rescheduled during the first quarter of the following year.

18.10

An employee who becomes sick or has an accident during a scheduled vacation period may, upon notification to his supervisor, be removed from vacation and placed on sick leave as eligible under "Article 16" provided that mutual agreement can be reached to reschedule such vacation within the same calendar year. Vacations postponed due to accident or sickness during the month of December may be rescheduled during the first quarter of the following year. In either case, sickness or accident must be proved by a doctor's certificate. Sickness or accident of less than five consecutive working days duration shall not be considered under this marginal paragraph.

18.11

Employees who have taken their annual vacation entitlement and subsequently leave the Company's service part way through the year will be required to reimburse the Company for any portion of that year's annual vacation already taken.

ARTICLE 19 - SPECIAL VACATION

19.01 Eligibility

- (a) Only grand-parented_employees with five years or more of service at December 31, 2006 will remain eligible for Special Vacation.
- (b) Employees who complete their fifth year of service prior to December 31, 2006 shall be eligible for fifteen Special Vacation days commencing January 1, 2007. These Employees shall become eligible for a further fifteen days of Special Vacation following each subsequent five-year qualifying period.

19.02 Conditions Governing Special Vacations

- (a) They shall be taken at times which are suitable to both the Company and the employee.
- (b) The allocation of Annual Vacations shall have priority over the allocation of Special Vacations.
- (c) In determining the length of a Special Vacation, a week shall mean a normal work week. Where a Statutory Holiday falls within a week taken as Special Vacation, the employee shall receive an additional day off with pay.
- (d) Special Vacation pay shall be computed on the basis of the employee's regular salary at the time the Special Vacation is taken.
- (e) Within the first 12 months following the five-year qualifying period, employees will be required to either schedule their Special Vacation to be taken within the remaining 48 months or agree to be paid out for any unscheduled Special Vacation. Payout, if elected, will be made within two pay periods of the Employee's election.
- (f) If an employee leaves the service of the Company, or retires to pension, or his employment is terminated and he is at that time entitled to a Special Vacation, he will be paid a sum equal to the amount of Special Vacation pay which he would have received if he had taken his Special Vacation in the three week period immediately preceding the date on which he leaves the service of the Company, or retires to pension, or his employment is terminated. In addition, he shall be paid a sum proportionate to the service he has completed in the next five year qualifying period. Should his employment be terminated by his death, such sums shall be paid to his estate.
- (g) Absence by an employee during a five year qualifying period due to sickness or accident up to a total of 12 months or absence for any reason other than sickness or accident up to 30 consecutive days shall not affect his Special Vacation benefits. That portion of absence due to sickness or accident which is in excess of 12 months, or any absence for other reasons in excess of 30 consecutive days shall result in a pro-rata reduction in Special Vacation pay but shall not affect the time allowed for Special Vacation.

ARTICLE 20 - HOLIDAYS

20.01

The following statutory holidays shall be recognized by the Company:

New Year's Day
Good Friday
Victoria Day
Canada Day
British Columbia Day
Labour Day
Thanksgiving Day
Remembrance Day
Christmas Day
Boxing Day

In addition, each employee, after a total of 120 days of continuous service after hire, shall twice in each year be entitled to a Floating Statutory Holiday. These holidays will be scheduled at the mutual convenience of the Company and the employee. Unused Floating Statutory Holidays will be paid out by the second pay period of the following calendar year.

20.02

Any of the above holidays falling on a Saturday or Sunday will be observed on Friday, Monday or Tuesday at the Company's option.

20.03

Statutory holiday pay for part-time regular or temporary employees shall be paid in accordance with Article 6.

20.04

An employee will receive normal straight time earnings for any holiday described in 20.01 provided that on the working day immediately before and the working day immediately after the holiday he or she was at work, on sick leave, on vacation or on an approved leave of absence.

ARTICLE 21 - OVERTIME

21.01

Overtime must be specifically authorized by the supervisor in order for such overtime to be compensated.

21.02

Overtime shall be assigned, on an equitable basis where practical, to all employees within an office or department who are qualified to perform the work.

21.03

Work in excess of the normal hours of work as defined in Article 15 and Article 28 will receive payment at 200% of the employee's hourly rate for all overtime worked.

21.04

Employees who are called in to work on a scheduled day off or who are called back to work on a regular working day shall receive a minimum of two hours' pay at 200% of base hourly rate. All subsequent time will be paid at 200% of base hourly rate.

21.05

- (a) Employees who perform overtime work, as a continuation of a regular shift, for a period of two hours shall be entitled to a meal period. Such employees will be paid 1/2 hour at the prevailing overtime rate for such meal period. Where it is not practical to provide a meal, or where the employee elects not to have a meal, they shall instead receive 3/4 of one hour's pay at the prevailing overtime rate. An additional meal period, with pay of 1/2 hour at the prevailing overtime rate shall be allowed for each additional four hours of overtime work.
- (b) Employees performing overtime, which had been previously scheduled, on a regularly scheduled day off, during hours which correspond to their normal hours of work shall not be entitled to paid meal periods unless such overtime extends more than two hours beyond their normal quit time.
- (c) Employees who are called in to work on a scheduled day off or who are called back to work on a regular work day shall be entitled to a meal period after each four hour period of work. Such employee will be paid 1/2 hour at the prevailing overtime rate for any such meal period.
- (d) The Company shall provide a meal or reimburse the employee for receipted meal expenses when such employee qualifies under (a), (b) or (c) above.

21.06

Where an employee is required to work unscheduled overtime, the Company will, at the request of the employee, provide or pay reasonable costs for alternative transportation provided that the employee's normal means of transportation is not available.

21.07

Employees who perform overtime work under the provisions of Article 21.04 shall be compensated at 200% of base hourly rate for travel to and from the place of work, commencing when the employee leaves for the job site and terminating when the employee arrives home.

Where overtime work is performed under Article 21.03, an employee will be paid for a minimum of 1/2 hour. Time worked beyond the first 1/2 hour will be recorded to the next higher 1/4 hour.

21.09

- (a) At the employee's request, the Company shall withhold from the proceeds of the employee's pay, the overtime earnings. At a time mutually convenient to the employee and the Company, the employee may take time off with pay, to the extent his accumulated overtime permits.
- (b) Banked overtime in excess of 80 hours will be paid out on the first pay in April and the first pay in November at the employee's current rate.
- (c) Employees requesting overtime payout may do so at any time, but, must direct this request in writing to the pay office. The amount specified to be paid out shall be forwarded on the following payday.
- (d) Employees will be allowed the option of placing this accumulated overtime into a pre-retirement account. Overtime accumulated in this account will be used immediately prior to entering pension status at FortisBC. Other access to this account will be limited to those employees who sever their employment relationship with the Company, or wish to utilize a one time per year lump sum contribution to RRSP accounts. Any other special consideration must be approved by the Manager, Human Resources.

ARTICLE 22 - MOVING AND TRAVELLING ENTITLEMENTS

22.01 Headquarters

Each employee will have an established headquarters which will be the location where the employee normally works, reports for work, or the location to which he returns between jobs and will be a permanently established Company place of business unless otherwise specifically agreed by the Parties.

22.02 General Provision - Transportation

Unless otherwise specifically limited below, employees who are required to travel on Company business will be provided with transportation by the Company at no cost to the employee.

22.03 Travel

(a) Travel – Company Business

The Company will pay the equivalent of economy air fare for air travel, and for other forms of travel will pay appropriate costs plus sleeping accommodation where required for employees traveling on Company business. All time spent traveling and waiting for connections for public transportation will be paid as time worked except that when an employee is provided with accommodation at his place of departure such pay shall not start until the employee is required to depart his place accommodation to catch the scheduled transportation. Pay for travel time on a day on which no work is performed will be limited to a day's pay at the prevailing straight time rate, unless the travel occurs on their day of rest or during non-working hours, which will be compensated at 200% of the base hourly rate to a maximum of 7 ½ hours.

(b) Travel – Training

Employees who travel on their day of rest or during non-working hours for work related training will be eligible for travel time pay to a maximum of 7 ½ hours at the prevailing straight time pay.

22.04 Travel - Involving No Change in Lodging

Employees who are required to report to a temporary headquarters which does not involve any change in lodging will be reimbursed for additional transportation cost incurred or be provided with transportation by the Company and will travel on Company time.

22.05 Personal Vehicles

Employees who elect and who are permitted by the Company to use their personal vehicles in lieu of transportation supplied by the Company shall receive mileage reimbursement as per the CRA.

22.06 Expense Claims

The CRA rules regarding taxable vs. non-taxable benefits apply to Article 22.06

Option A	All expenses paid by the Company (with supporting receipts) plus up to a miximum of \$15 per night for miscellaneous expenses (not supported by receipts).
Option B	\$100 per day per overnight stay
Option C	Company pays all expenses other than meals (with supporting receipts) and \$65 per overnight stay for required meals (\$15 breakfast, \$20 lunch, \$30 dinner)

- (a) Employees traveling on Company business or working away from their established headquarters will be reimbursed for reasonable expenses, as set out below, by submitting the appropriate Company form:
 - (i) Accommodation expenses for which receipts are required.
 - (ii) Meal expenses will include actual expenses incurred for all meals and gratuities. Receipts are required.
 - (iii) Personal vehicle mileage expenses subject to Article 22.05 and other travel expenses, which will include taxis and parking.
 - (iv) Miscellaneous expenses where incurred will include telephone, laundry, valet, and any other reasonable expense. Any one item in excess of \$15 will be explained and supported by receipts.
- (b) At the request of the employee, the Company shall instead of the provisions of Article 22.06 (a) (i) (ii) and (iv) above, pay an allowance to cover his increased expenses of \$100 per overnight stay for the period the employee is traveling on Company business or working away from his established headquarters.
- (c) At the request of the employee, the Company shall instead of the provisions of Article 22.06 (a) (ii) and (iv) (including the \$15 per night miscellaneous) pay an allowance of \$65_per overnight stay.
- (d) Expenses incurred while on Company business in the USA shall be reimbursed in American funds.

22.07 Moving Expenses

Full-time regular employees will be reimbursed for moving expenses when the employee's established headquarters is changed for reasons set out in Article 22.07(a) or 22.07(b).

Moving expenses will be paid in accordance with Article 22.08(a) (full expenses) or 22.08(b) (limited expenses) when all of the following conditions have been met:

- (i) The employee must be moving from, and to, a full-time regular position; and
- (ii) The employee must actually incur a change in residence; and
- (iii) The new headquarters must be further from the original residence than was the previous headquarters; and
- (iv) The new headquarters must be more than 20 road miles away from the original residence; and
- (v) The new residence must be closer to the new headquarters than is the old residence to the new headquarters; and
- (vi) The employee must initiate his move to the new residence within three months of moving to his new headquarters; and
- (vii) The employee must submit his claim for all moving expenses, including supporting documentation, within 12 months of moving to his new headquarters, unless a longer period is agreed to in writing by the Manager, Human Resources.
- (a) Full moving expenses will be paid in accordance with Article 22.08, where the change in headquarters within FortisBC results from:
 - (i) The location of the employee's headquarters being changed by the Company, except as limited by Article 22.07(c).

- (ii) A move as a result of the employee being displaced under Article 11, Layoff and Recall or Article 13 Technological and Procedural Change.
- (iii) A move as a result of the employee receiving a promotion under Article 23. Such payment is limited to a maximum of one move every five years.
- (b) Limited moving expenses will be paid in accordance with Article 22.08(b) where the change in headquarters results from a move as a result of the employee voluntarily transferring to a job of equal or lower salary level. Unless otherwise agreed by the Company, employees in such instances will not receive any moving expenses if they have less than five years continuous service or if they have received a move paid by the Company in the preceding five years.
- (c) An employee whose change in headquarters results from a transfer or demotion due to inadequate performance will not be entitled to moving expenses unless otherwise agreed by the Company.
- (d) The employee who receives limited moving expenses as a result of a voluntary transfer to a job of equal or lower salary level will reimburse the Company for all moving expenses received in those instances where the employee voluntarily leaves the employment of the Company within one year of the date of the move.

22.08

- (a) Full moving expenses are defined as follows:
- 1. Moving
 - (i) Costs of:
 - packing and unpacking of household furniture and equipment;
 - mover's charge;
 - insurance against damage to household effects in transit;
 - storage of household furniture and equipment which is being moved to the employee's new residence for up to one month, or for such longer period as may be approved by the Manager, Human Resources.
 - (ii) Providing any claim hereunder is supported by receipted vouchers, the Company will pay an amount not exceeding \$400 for incidental expenses. These incidental expenses include cost of cleaning existing residence, disconnecting and reconnecting appliances, altering rugs or drapes, and utility hookups, etc.
 - (iii) The Company will be responsible for:
 - making arrangements for the move, for securing at least two competitive bids, for the selection of a reputable carrier, and prior to signing the contract, submitting the quotation for approval to the Manager, Human Resources.
 - placing of the insurance on his household effects in transit.
 - obtaining reimbursement from carriers for any damage to effects in transit.
- 2. Traveling and Living Expenses

The Company will pay all reasonable charges for:

- (i) Transportation of entire family via air, rail or car. If the employee's own car is used, standard mileage rates will prevail. This includes meals, lodging enroute and normal living expenses.
- (ii) In the event that the employee precedes his family to the new location, the Company will pay his personal living expenses for up to one month in order to find reasonable living accommodation.

- (b) Limited expenses are defined as follows:
- 1. Moving
 - (i) Costs of:
 - packing and unpacking of household furniture and equipment;
 - mover's charge;
 - insurance against damage to household effects in transit;
 - (ii) The Company will be responsible for:
 - making arrangements for the move, for securing at least two competitive bids, for the selection of a reputable carrier, and prior to signing the contract, submitting the quotation for approval to the Manager, Human Resources.
 - placing of the insurance on his household effects in transit.
 - obtaining reimbursement from carriers for any damage to effects in transit.

2. Traveling and Living Expenses

The Company will pay all reasonable charges for:

- (i) Transportation of entire family via air, rail or car. If the employee's own car is used, standard mileage rates will prevail. This includes meals, lodging enroute and normal living expenses.
- (ii) In the event that the employee precedes his family to the new location, the Company will pay his personal living expenses for up to one month in order to find reasonable living accommodation.

ARTICLE 23 - SALARY ADMINISTRATION

23.01

The Company shall pay basic salary or wage rates (hereinafter referred to as "base rates") to employees in accordance with Appendix "A" which is attached hereto and forms part of this Agreement.

- (a) Full time employees shall be paid on a bi-weekly basis and there shall be 26 such payments in a given year. For conversion purposes only, bi-weekly payments shall be calculated by dividing yearly salary in Appendix "A" by 26, and hourly rates shall be calculated by dividing the bi-weekly rate by 75 hours (1950). Salaries shall be paid every second Friday.
- (b) Part time employees will be paid on the basis of hourly wage rates. Such hourly rates will be calculated on the basis of the annual salary equivalent divided by 26 (pay dates) and then 75 (hours) (1950). Part time employees shall be paid on a bi-weekly basis every second Friday, for wages earned as at Thursday of the preceding week.
- (c) Payment shall be made by direct deposit to the bank, credit union or other financial institution of the employee's choice.

23.02 Hiring Rates

- (a) New employees will normally be hired at the minimum rate for their job.
- (b) In accordance with Appendix A, B and B1, a new employee who has had experience directly applicable to the job may be paid up to and including the level indicated below without mutual agreement of the Company and Union:.
 - Job groups 5 to 6: 1 year level;
 - Job groups 7 to 13: 2 year level.
- (c) Higher starting rates may be paid in exceptional cases by mutual agreement of the Parties. No employee will be paid a base rate that is less than the minimum or more than the maximum for the job.
- (d) If a temporary employee is successful in obtaining an appointment to a regular job, and the job is at the same level as the temporary position held, then he or she will maintain their anniversary date for future salary increases. If the appointment is to a higher position than the one held then the temporary employee will be treated in accordance with Article 23.04. If the appointment is to a lower position than the one currently held by the temporary employee, the employee will be treated in accordance with Article 23.08.

23.03 Promotions

By definition, a "promotion" shall mean a move to a new job carrying a maximum level which is higher than the maximum level of the old job.

23.04 Permanent Promotions

In the case of an employee obtaining a promotion to a permanent job, he or she will receive an increase of five per cent on his or her old base rate or the increase resulting from placement on the same level in the new Job Group, whichever is greater. Where the resulting base rate would be higher than the maximum of the new Job Group, he or she shall be paid the maximum.

An employee must be in the new or promoted position for the full 6 month or 1 year period from the date of promotion, as indicated in the salary schedules in Appendix A, B, and B1, in order to qualify for the next established pay increase. Thereafter, progression along the salary scale will be at the established intervals.

23.05 Temporary Promotions

- (a) An employee temporarily on a higher job classification shall receive the benefit of automatic salary increases which he or she would have received on his or her permanent job, and shall have his/her promotional increase re-calculated on such higher base rate.
- (b) An employee required by the Company to perform work temporarily in a higher job classification than his/her normal classification, for 2 hours or less during a shift shall be paid the higher classification rate for the time worked, and if for more than 2 hours during a shift shall be paid the higher classification rate for the whole shift.
- (c) Subject to (b) above, an employee temporarily on a higher job classification for less than 3 consecutive months, shall be paid the higher classification rate for time worked only.
- (d) An employee temporarily on a higher job classification for more than 3 consecutive months, shall be paid consistent with Article 23.04 including all paid time.
- (e) An increase in salary awarded for a temporary promotion terminates when the employee returns to his or her permanent job. Such employee, upon return to his or her regular job, will receive the salary he or she would be receiving had a temporary promotion not occurred.

23.06 Salary Progression

- (a) Salary advances in all salary ranges shall be automatic with the following exceptions:
 - (i) Employees who, at the time they become due for a salary advance, are absent due to Long Term Disability or are on an unpaid leave of absence, shall not be entitled to such salary advance until their return to active employment.
 - (ii) Where an increase is withheld for cause, at least one month's notice of intent to withhold shall be given by the Company to the Union and to the employee affected. When, in the opinion of the Company, the employee has restored his or her performance fully at some subsequent date, he or she may regain his or her position within the salary range on a non-retroactive basis.
- (b) Automatic salary increases for employees who are eligible shall be an amount equivalent to a full level increase within the appropriate salary range.

(c) A Part-time Regular employee shall progress through the salary scale on the basis of accumulated hours worked (inclusive of annual vacation, sick leave and absence due to Workers' Compensation) at the same job group. Such progression shall be determined by a quarterly review of accumulated hours, and shall be first applied after the employee has accumulated 975 hours for moving from the Entry level to the Six Month level and from the Six Month level to the 1 Year level. Subsequent progressions shall be applied upon accumulation of 1950 hour increments.

23.07 Demotions

By definition, a "demotion" shall mean a move to a new job carrying a maximum level which is lower than the maximum level of the old job.

23.08

For transfer to a lower job classification, either as a result of application by the employee or as a result of inadequate performance, the following salary policy will apply:

- (a) If the employee has one year or more of service in his or her present job, upon demotion his or her salary will be retained if it is not beyond the maximum of the lower job classification. If it is beyond maximum, the salary will be reduced to the maximum of the lower job.
- (b) If the employee has less than one year of service in his or her present job, upon demotion his or her salary rate will be retained if it is not beyond the six month level of the salary range for the lower job classification. If it is beyond the six month level, the salary will be reduced to the six month level of the lower job.
- (c) The employee will receive the general increases that accrue to his or her new job classification.

23.09

- (a) In the event of a transfer to a lower job classification for reasons not directly attributable to the employee, such as technological change, reorganization or reclassification of an existing job, the following policy will apply:
 - (i) Upon demotion, the employee will retain his current salary/wage irrespective of where it falls in the salary range or beyond the salary range of the lower job classification.
 - (ii) If the employee's salary is within the salary range of the lower job classification, he/she will receive such general increases as accrue to his/her new job classification.
 - (iii) If the employee's salary is beyond the maximum of the lower job classification, he/she will receive such general increases only to the extent that the new maximum of the lower job classification exceeds his/her present salary.
- (b) In the event of transfer to a lower job classification resulting from the provisions of Article 11, Layoff and Recall, employees will retain their salaries provided such salary is not beyond the maximum for the lower job. If the salary is above maximum, it will be reduced to the maximum for the new job.

23.10 M&E Relief Premium

Employees who temporarily perform M&E relief functions shall be paid at 110% of their actual Salary Rate or 110% of the highest person supervised, whichever is the greater. The provisions of Article 23.05 also apply.

23.11 Temporary Work Leader Premium

Employees who are temporarily assigned to work as a Work Leader may perform duties related to, but at a higher level than the work of the subordinates whom they direct. The employee shall be paid 1 job group above the highest COPE subordinate or 1 job group above their current job group, whichever is greater, for the length of the temporary assignment. This assignment shall not exceed 6 months. The provisions of Article 23.05 apply.

23.12 First Aid Premiums

The Company recognizes the following levels of First Aid Certification and will pay a corresponding premium rate for holders of Designated First Aid, and Relief First Aid positions.

	Designated Attendant	Relief Attendant	Transportation Premium
Level 3	\$300/mo.	\$150/mo.	included
Level 2	\$200/mo	\$100/mo	\$25/mo
Level 1	\$100/mo	\$75/mo	\$25/mo

Designated and Relief First Aid Attendants will be granted a paid leave of absence for this training and, as well, the Company will prepay full course costs including examination fees for both the initial certification and subsequent renewals.

23.13 Standby

An employee who is required by the Company to be on Standby at a time or times other than his/her regular working hours shall be paid:

- (a) A sum equivalent to one hour's pay at the base rate for his/her classification for each day on Standby which he/she actually works a regularly scheduled shift.
- (b) A minimum of four hours pay at his/her base rate on any scheduled day of rest.
- (c) Standby premiums will be paid in the pay period in which they are earned.

ARTICLE 24 - JOB CLASSIFICATIONS - DESCRIPTION ADMINISTRATION

24.01

The Company will prepare and maintain detailed job descriptions, a copy of which will be provided to the Union and employees.

Job descriptions prepared in accordance with this Article will describe job duties and responsibilities as clearly and specifically as possible.

24.02

Employees may be required to perform other duties from time to time. These duties may be omitted from the job description provided such duties do not significantly affect the value of the job. Such job descriptions shall express as clearly as possible the education, experience and skills required to do the job. All job descriptions prepared and maintained by the Company shall bear the date of their last revision.

24.03 Joint Job Evaluation Process

The job evaluation process below will remain in place until a new joint Job Evaluation process is created. During the term of this collective agreement, the Company and Union agree to work towards a new job evaluation framework.

- (a) Should the Company determine that a new job classification is required and, as a result, a new salary scale is required, then the Company will implement an interim salary scale for the job. The Company and the Union will determine, through the Joint Job Evaluation Committee, the actual salary scale for the job.
- (b) The incumbent(s), the Company or the Union may request that a job be reviewed by the Joint Job Evaluation Committee. Eligibility for re-evaluation will be met by satisfying one of the following conditions:
 - (i) A collection of tasks which has not been rated on the joint Job Evaluation Plan.
 - (ii) A change has occurred in an existing job which it is felt will lead to a change in the evaluation of the job.
 - (iii) A minimum of 12 months in the position is required prior to an employee requesting a job evaluation to remove a TBR (To Be Reviewed) rating. Once the new job has existed for 12 months, it must be evaluated within six months.
- (c) The incumbent(s) will obtain a Job Fact Sheet from Human Resources and submit the completed Job Fact Sheet to the Joint Job Evaluation Committee.

24.04

- (a) The Joint Job Evaluation Committee shall consist of four persons, two appointed by the Company and two appointed by the Union. The Committee will select a rotating chair every six months.
- (b) The Joint Job Evaluation Committee will meet once every four months or more frequently at the call of the Chair. The Committee will meet to review changes in duties and/or responsibilities in existing jobs and to review new "to be reviewed" jobs. The Committee will establish the appropriate point rating for the job using the "Factor Grade-Point Conversion Table" as outlined in the Joint Job Evaluation Plan. In the event that the Committee is unable to agree, then the dispute will be submitted to a single arbitrator as per Article 4.02.
- (c) Should the Joint Job Evaluation Committee be required to interview incumbents of jobs being reviewed then that interview will be conducted by one Company committee member and one Union committee member.

Should the Parties be unable to agree on the rates of pay for any new job or be unable to agree on the rates of pay for an existing job where the duties and responsibilities have changed, then the matter will be referred to a single arbitrator whose decision shall be final and binding. Each Party will pay the expenses incurred in connection with the presentation of its own case and will share the expenses and fees of the Board.

24.06

Rates of pay established under Article 24.03 and 24.04 above shall be effective for new jobs from date of hire and shall be effective for changes in rates to existing jobs from the date that the Union, the Company or the incumbent initiated the review.

24.07

In establishing rates of pay, an arbitrator will be guided as follows:

- (a) the arbitrator will establish rates in accordance with one of the listed pay grades in Appendix "A" except that an arbitrator may establish a pay grade higher than the highest pay grade set out in Appendix "A" if such is appropriate but such higher pay grade, when established, will bear the appropriate relative relationship to the existing pay grades;
- (b) the arbitrator in making this decision will consider all the changes in job duties and/or responsibilities which have occurred in the job since the previous job description was prepared and which established the previous pay classification level, or the job duties and/or responsibilities contained in the job description of any new job;
- (c) the arbitrator can compare the duties and responsibilities of any job in dispute with the duties and responsibilities of any other job covered by the Agreement in arriving at the decision except that the comparative jobs may be specifically limited by mutual agreement of the Parties.

ARTICLE 25 - PROTECTIVE CLOTHING

Where protective clothing is required in the course of an employee's work the following shall apply:

25.01

With the exception of safety footwear, if employees are required to enter a worksite which requires safety equipment, then the equipment will be provided by the Company.

25.02

Employees who must purchase protective footwear may apply for a 50% reimbursement of the purchase price.

ARTICLE 26 - TRAINING

26.01

The Company encourages employees to upgrade their education, knowledge and skills by private study and will assist with costs as per the Company policy.

26.02

The Company will refund the total cost of books, tuition and examination fees to any employee upon successful completion of the W.C.B. Industrial First Aid Course.

26.03

The Human Resources Department will be available to discuss career opportunities with employees to identify areas of career interest. At the request of the Union, the Company agrees to meet to discuss specific training programs.

ARTICLE 27 - SAFETY REQUIREMENTS

27.01

It is the intent of the parties to this Collective Agreement to conduct a safe operation.

27.02

Working practices shall be governed by FortisBC standards and procedures and the regulations of the Province of British Columbia insofar as they apply.

27.03

Employees may submit their concerns regarding safety and occupational health to their respective operation's function Supervisor and/or to the local Safety Coordinator.

27.04

No person shall be required to undertake any work when he/she has reasonable grounds to believe conditions are not safe. Such incidents must be reported immediately to the function Supervisor and/or to the local Safety Coordinator.

27.05

Findings and recommendations with respect to investigations undertaken as referenced in Article 27.04 shall be reported to the Manager of Environment, Health and Safety and the President of the Union or their delegates.

ARTICLE 28 - SHIFTWORK, HOURS OF WORK AND CONDITIONS

28.01 Introduction of Shifts

- (a) The Company will make every effort to provide the Union with three months written notice prior to introducing new shiftwork requirements of an ongoing nature.
- (b) Should a position having an incumbent employee become a shift position, the incumbent employee will have the option to either:
 - (i) Accept the shift position, or
 - (ii) Decline the shift position. In the latter event, the shift vacancy will be filled in accordance with the provisions of Article 7; the declining employee will be treated in accordance with the provisions of Article 13.

28.02 Shift Rotation

Length of shift rotation will be determined by the number of employees performing the same job at the same location, operational necessity and mutual agreement of the parties. Where more than one qualified employee exists for a shiftwork rotation, the selection of shifts will be made on the basis of seniority.

28.03 Temporary Change of Workshift

Where a shift employee's workshift has been changed and is not a part of the normal rotation and such change is for a period in excess of 20 working days, such change will be deemed permanent and Article 28.01 shall apply.

28.04 Working Hours

(a) Work Day

Any consecutive eight hours of work, exclusive of lunch period, in a 24 hour period.

(b) Work Week

Any consecutive five days of work out of seven consecutive calendar days. The remaining two days will be scheduled as days off in lieu of Saturday and Sunday.

(c) Lunch Periods

The lunch period shall be taken as close as possible to the midpoint of the shift.

(d) Rest Periods

A rest period of ten minutes will be permitted in both the first and second halves of the shift. Such periods shall be considered as time worked.

28.05 Definitions

(a) Day Shift

Any shift starting between the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 10:00 a.m. If the majority of hours worked occur prior to 3:00 p.m., no shift premium will be paid.

(b) Afternoon Shift

Any shift starting between the hours of 3:00 p.m. and 6:59 p.m.

(c) Night Shift

Any shift starting between the hours of 7:00 p.m. and 6:59 a.m. If the majority of hours worked occur after 5:00 a.m., no shift premium will be paid.

28.06 Shift Premium

Scheduled shiftwork shall attract a premium of \$1.50 per hour worked for afternoon shift and \$3.00 per hour worked for night shift. Shift premiums will apply only for those hours worked within the defined shift periods as specified in Article 28.05.

28.07 Overtime

The provisions of Article 21 shall apply to shift work.

28.08 Pyramiding or Compounding

Under no circumstances shall there be pyramiding or compounding of premiums.

28.09 Statutory Holidays

- (a) In recognition that statutory holidays may be scheduled workdays for shift workers, employees will be scheduled off for ten days in lieu of statutory holidays as listed in Article 20.01. In addition, eligible employees will be scheduled off twice in each year on a floating statutory holiday, in accordance with Article 20.01.
- (b) All work performed by employees on statutory holidays shall be compensated for at the base rate, plus shift premium if applicable, and in addition for each 7 ½ hour shift worked such employees shall be provided with a day off and shall receive 7 ½ hours pay on the basis of his regular base rate (exclusive of shift differentials, overtime, bonuses, holiday or other premiums) for such day.

ARTICLE 29 - SHIFT CHANGE AND CHANGE IN STARTING TIME OF A WORK

DAY

29.01

When the Company changes an employee's work shift or where the Company varies the starting time of an employee's work day by more than three hours, and in either case does not provide the employee with 48 hours of notice, said employee shall be paid at overtime rates for the initial changed shift. Such payment shall not be made upon return to the normal shift or start time of a work day from which he was changed. Changes which result from accommodation of employee requests, such as changes in hours of work, exchanges of work shifts or work days, vacations and approved leaves of absence, or from periodic changes to summer and winter hours of work, shall not be paid at overtime rates. Work performed by an employee at overtime rate on his scheduled rest day, or overtime work, or work on a callout, do not constitute a change in work shift and do not affect the rate of pay for the employee's succeeding regular shift.

ARTICLE 30 - SAVINGS CLAUSE

30.01

If any article, section, paragraph, clause or phrase of this Agreement shall by Provincial, Federal or other law or by decision of any court be declared or held illegal, void or unenforceable, the remaining portions of this Agreement shall continue to be valid and in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 31 - COPE-FORTISBC PENSION PLAN

31.01 Joint Committee (Former LOU WKP OTEU-95-2)

Pension Chair - The parties agree that the COPE-FortisBC Pension Plan Joint Committee of trustees shall consist of six trustees of whom three shall be appointed by the Company and three shall be appointed by the Union. The Chairperson shall be on a rotational basis among the trustees or as otherwise determined by the trustees.

The salary and expenses incurred by the Company appointees while serving as a trustee shall be borne by the Company. The salary and expenses incurred by Union appointees while serving as a trustee shall be borne by the Union. Employees appointed as trustees shall, however, have their salaries maintained by the Company.

31.02 Contribution Rate (Former Article 17.06)

Effective February 1, 1992 the provisions of the West Kootenay Power Staff Union Pension Plan for OPEIU Union Employees, 1992 shall come into effect. Effective February 1, 1995, the Company's contribution rate will be increased by 2.8% of base pay to provide for a reduction of the same amount in members' contributions.

31.03 OPEIU Pension Plan Amendments

The OPEIU Pension Plan will be amended to reflect the following:

- The PPSUE and OPEIU 1992 Pension Plan will be consolidated with an accrual rate of 1.1 for pre 1982 service effective February 1, 1997. The cost of the consolidation will be borne by the Company.
- an integration level of 75% of YMPE effective February 1, 1997
- Addition of "85 point rule" effective February 1, 1997
 - ⇒ only actual service with the Company will count towards the 85 points (i.e. there is no "grow-in" provision);
 - ⇒ there is no minimum age requirement to be eligible for the unreduced early retirement benefits; and
 - ⇒ the early retirement reductions will be determined from the member's earliest unreduced retirement date.
- Effective February 1, 1998 change the definition of final average earnings from the best of 60 months to the best of 36 months.
- The equivalent of Rate 9 will be utilized to offset the employee portion of the cost of the 85 point rule/integration/final average earnings of the OPEIU 1992 Pension Plan.
- Effective February 1, 2000 the OPEIU 1992 Pension Plan shall be amended to allow an employee the opportunity to retire with full basic pension at the earlier of age 60 or the age at which the member's age plus service equals 80. The Parties accept the cost estimate of this change to be 0.8% of payroll. Effective February 1, 2000, employee contributions will rise by 0.8% of payroll to support this change.

- Effective February 1, 2000 the definition of plan earnings in the OPEIU 1992 Pension Plan shall be amended to read:
 - 80% of earnings up to the Canada Pension Plan's "year's maximum pensionable earnings" plus 100% of earnings in excess of that maximum. The Parties accept the cost estimate of this change to be 1.4% of payroll. The costs of this change will be implemented as follows: for the year February 1, 2000 to January 31, 2001, employee contributions will rise by 1.4%. Effective February 1, 2001, Company contributions will rise by 0.7% and employee contributions will decrease by 0.7%.

Effective February 1, 2002, Company contributions will rise by the remaining 0.7% and employee contributions will decrease by 0.7%.

The Parties confirm that the provisions of the OPEIU – WKP Pension Plan in respect of the January 1, 2000 actuarial valuation will apply (A4.02A).

31.04 Pension Eligibility

- (a) Full-time Regular employees shall be eligible to join the COPE-FortisBC Pension Plan in accordance with Article 6.02.
- (b) Part-time Regular and Temporary employees shall be eligible to join the COPE-FortisBC Pension Plan on the first day of a month, not earlier than the effective date, at which time the employee
 - (i) has completed at least 24 months of continuous service in which he or she has earned at least 35% of the YMPE in each of two consecutive calendar years, and
 - (ii) is actively at work.

Pension entitlements will be prorated on the basis of hours actually worked in a given period.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have affixed their hands through their respective officers on December 4, 2013

CANADIAN OFFICE AND PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES' UNION, LOCAL 378

Brad Bastien, Senior Union Representative
Richard Gaylard, Executive Councillor
Stephanie Smith Executive Councillor
Janet Maloff Executive Councillor
FortisBC Inc.
Rita Ludwig – Director, Employee Relations
Gary Williams, Manager, Network Services, Okanagan
Dale Rieberger, Manager, IS Operations
Brett Henderson, Director, Finance and Accounting

APPENDIX "A" – ANNUAL SALARY SCALE

Appendix A - Annual Salary Scale

January 1, 2014						
Increase Amou	nt:	2.00%				
Job Group	T.S.K. Point	Entry Level	Six Month	1 Year	2 Year	3 Year
5	Range 112-131	40,660	44,047	47,436	50,825	
6	132-151	44,047	47,706	51,387	55,046	
7	152-171	47,421	50,384	53,329	56,307	59,255
8	172-191	50,723	53,907	57,074	60,242	63,408
9	192-211	54,271	57,682	61,070	64,457	67,846
10	212-231	58,072	61,718	65,344	68,970	72,594
11	232-251	62,136	66,038	69,919	73,799	77,677
12	252-271	66,486	70,661	74,812	78,963	83,115
13	272-291	71,142	75,606	80,051	84,491	88,934

Appendix A - Annual Salary Scale

	January 1, 2015						
Increase Amou	nt:	2.00%					
Job Group	T.S.K. Point Range	Entry Level	Six Month	1 Year	2 Year	3 Year	
5	112-131	41,473	44,928	48,385	51,842		
6	132-151	44,928	48,660	52,415	56,147		
7	152-171	48,369	51,392	54,396	57,433	60,440	
8	172-191	51,737	54,985	58,215	61,447	64,676	
9	192-211	55,356	58,836	62,291	65,746	69,203	
10	212-231	59,233	62,952	66,651	70,349	74,046	
11	232-251	63,379	67,359	71,317	75,275	79,231	
12	252-271	67,816	72,074	76,308	80,542	84,777	
13	272-291	72,565	77,118	81,652	86,181	90,713	

Appendix A - Annual Salary Scale

January 1, 2016						
Increase Amou	nt:	2.00%				
Job Group	T.S.K. Point Range	Entry Level	Six Month	1 Year	2 Year	3 Year
5	112-131	42,302	45,827	49,353	52,879	
6	132-151	45,827	49,633	53,463	57,270	
7	152-171	49,336	52,420	55,484	58,582	61,649
8	172-191	52,772	56,085	59,379	62,676	65,970
9	192-211	56,463	60,013	63,537	67,061	70,587
10	212-231	60,418	64,211	67,984	71,756	75,527
11	232-251	64,647	68,706	72,743	76,781	80,816
12	252-271	69,172	73,515	77,834	82,153	86,473
13	272-291	74,016	78,660	83,285	87,905	92,527

Appendix A - Annual Salary Scale

January 1, 2017									
Increase Amount:		2.25%							
Job Group	T.S.K. Point Range	Entry Level	Six Month	1 Year	2 Year	3 Year			
5	112-131	43,254	46,858	50,463	54,069				
6	132-151	46,858	50,750	54,666	58,559				
7	152-171	50,446	53,599	56,732	59,900	63,036			
8	172-191	53,959	57,347	60,715	64,086	67,454			
9	192-211	57,733	61,363	64,967	68,570	72,175			
10	212-231	61,777	65,656	69,514	73,371	77,226			
11	232-251	66,102	70,252	74,380	78,509	82,634			
12	252-271	70,728	75,169	79,585	84,001	88,419			
13	272-291	75,681	80,430	85,159	89,883	94,609			

Appendix A - Annual Salary Scale

January 1, 2018								
Increase Amount:		2.50%						
Job Group	T.S.K. Point Range	Entry Level	Six Month	1 Year	2 Year	3 Year		
5	112-131	44,335	48,029	51,725	55,421			
6	132-151	48,029	52,019	56,033	60,023			
7	152-171	51,707	54,939	58,150	61,398	64,612		
8	172-191	55,308	58,781	62,233	65,688	69,140		
9	192-211	59,176	62,897	66,591	70,284	73,979		
10	212-231	63,321	67,297	71,252	75,205	79,157		
11	232-251	67,755	72,008	76,240	80,472	84,700		
12	252-271	72,496	77,048	81,575	86,101	90,629		
13	272-291	77,573	82,441	87,288	92,130	96,974		

APPENDIX "B" – BI-WEEKLY SALARY SCALE

Appendix B - Bi-Weekly Salary Scale

January 1, 2014								
Increase Amount:		2.00%						
Job Group	T.S.K. Point Range	Entry Level	Six Month	1 Year	2 Year	3 Year		
5	112-131	1,563.85	1,694.12	1,824.46	1,954.81			
6	132-151	1,694.12	1,834.85	1,976.42	2,117.15			
7	152-171	1,823.88	1,937.85	2,051.12	2,165.65	2,279.04		
8	172-191	1,950.88	2,073.35	2,195.15	2,317.00	2,438.77		
9	192-211	2,087.35	2,218.54	2,348.85	2,479.12	2,609.46		
10	212-231	2,233.54	2,373.77	2,513.23	2,652.69	2,792.08		
11	232-251	2,389.85	2,539.92	2,689.19	2,838.42	2,987.58		
12	252-271	2,557.15	2,717.73	2,877.38	3,037.04	3,196.73		
13	272-291	2,736.23	2,907.92	3,078.88	3,249.65	3,420.54		

Appendix B - Bi-Weekly Salary Scale

January 1, 2015								
Increase Amount:		2.00%						
Job Group	T.S.K. Point Range	Entry Level	Six Month	1 Year	2 Year	3 Year		
5	112-131	1,595.12	1,728.00	1,860.96	1,993.92			
6	132-151	1,728.00	1,871.54	2,015.96	2,159.50			
7	152-171	1,860.35	1,976.62	2,092.15	2,208.96	2,324.62		
8	172-191	1,989.88	2,114.81	2,239.04	2,363.35	2,487.54		
9	192-211	2,129.08	2,262.92	2,395.81	2,528.69	2,661.65		
10	212-231	2,278.19	2,421.23	2,563.50	2,705.73	2,847.92		
11	232-251	2,437.65	2,590.73	2,742.96	2,895.19	3,047.35		
12	252-271	2,608.31	2,772.08	2,934.92	3,097.77	3,260.65		
13	272-291	2,790.96	2,966.08	3,140.46	3,314.65	3,488.96		

Appendix B - Bi-Weekly Salary Scale

January 1, 2016								
Increase Amount:		2.00%						
Job Group	T.S.K. Point Range	Entry Level	Six Month	1 Year	2 Year	3 Year		
5	112-131	1,627.00	1,762.58	1,898.19	2,033.81			
6	132-151	1,762.58	1,908.96	2,056.27	2,202.69			
7	152-171	1,897.54	2,016.15	2,134.00	2,253.15	2,371.12		
8	172-191	2,029.69	2,157.12	2,283.81	2,410.62	2,537.31		
9	192-211	2,171.65	2,308.19	2,443.73	2,579.27	2,714.88		
10	212-231	2,323.77	2,469.65	2,614.77	2,759.85	2,904.88		
11	232-251	2,486.42	2,642.54	2,797.81	2,953.12	3,108.31		
12	252-271	2,660.46	2,827.50	2,993.62	3,159.73	3,325.88		
13	272-291	2,846.77	3,025.38	3,203.27	3,380.96	3,558.73		

Appendix B - Bi-Weekly Salary Scale

January 1, 2017								
Increase Amount:		2.25%						
Job Group	T.S.K. Point Range	Entry Level	Six Month	1 Year	2 Year	3 Year		
5	112-131	1,663.62	1,802.23	1,940.88	2,079.58			
6	132-151	1,802.23	1,951.92	2,102.54	2,252.27			
7	152-171	1,940.23	2,061.50	2,182.00	2,303.85	2,424.46		
8	172-191	2,075.35	2,205.65	2,335.19	2,464.85	2,594.38		
9	192-211	2,220.50	2,360.12	2,498.73	2,637.31	2,775.96		
10	212-231	2,376.04	2,525.23	2,673.62	2,821.96	2,970.23		
11	232-251	2,542.38	2,702.00	2,860.77	3,019.58	3,178.23		
12	252-271	2,720.31	2,891.12	3,060.96	3,230.81	3,400.73		
13	272-291	2,910.81	3,093.46	3,275.35	3,457.04	3,638.81		

Appendix B - Bi-Weekly Salary Scale

January 1, 2018								
Increase Amount:		2.50%						
Job Group	T.S.K. Point Range	Entry Level	Six Month	1 Year	2 Year	3 Year		
5	112-131	1,705.19	1,847.27	1,989.42	2,131.58			
6	132-151	1,847.27	2,000.73	2,155.12	2,308.58			
7	152-171	1,988.73	2,113.04	2,236.54	2,361.46	2,485.08		
8	172-191	2,127.23	2,260.81	2,393.58	2,526.46	2,659.23		
9	192-211	2,276.00	2,419.12	2,561.19	2,703.23	2,845.35		
10	212-231	2,435.42	2,588.35	2,740.46	2,892.50	3,044.50		
11	232-251	2,605.96	2,769.54	2,932.31	3,095.08	3,257.69		
12	252-271	2,788.31	2,963.38	3,137.50	3,311.58	3,485.73		
13	272-291	2,983.58	3,170.81	3,357.23	3,543.46	3,729.77		

APPENDIX "B.1" – HOURLY SALARY SCALE

Appendix B.1 – Hourly Salary Scale

January 1, 2014						
Increase Amoun	t:	2.00%				
Job Group	T.S.K. Point Range	Entry Level	Six Month	1 Year	2 Year	3 Year
5	112-131	20.85	22.59	24.33	26.06	
6	132-151	22.59	24.46	26.35	28.23	
7	152-171	24.32	25.84	27.35	28.88	30.39
8	172-191	26.01	27.64	29.27	30.89	32.52
9	192-211	27.83	29.58	31.32	33.05	34.79
10	212-231	29.78	31.65	33.51	35.37	37.23
11	232-251	31.86	33.87	35.86	37.85	39.83
12	252-271	34.10	36.24	38.37	40.49	42.62
13	272-291	36.48	38.77	41.05	43.33	45.61

Appendix B.1 – Hourly Salary Scale

January 1, 2015						
Increase Amoun	t:	2.00%				
Job Group	T.S.K. Point Range	Entry Level	Six Month	1 Year	2 Year	3 Year
5	112-131	21.27	23.04	24.81	26.59	
6	132-151	23.04	24.95	26.88	28.79	
7	152-171	24.80	26.35	27.90	29.45	30.99
8	172-191	26.53	28.20	29.85	31.51	33.17
9	192-211	28.39	30.17	31.94	33.72	35.49
10	212-231	30.38	32.28	34.18	36.08	37.97
11	232-251	32.50	34.54	36.57	38.60	40.63
12	252-271	34.78	36.96	39.13	41.30	43.48
13	272-291	37.21	39.55	41.87	44.20	46.52

Appendix B.1 – Hourly Salary Scale

	January 1, 2016						
Increase Amoun	t:	2.00%					
Job Group	T.S.K. Point Range	Entry Level	Six Month	1 Year	2 Year	3 Year	
5	112-131	21.69	23.50	25.31	27.12		
6	132-151	23.50	25.45	27.42	29.37		
7	152-171	25.30	26.88	28.45	30.04	31.61	
8	172-191	27.06	28.76	30.45	32.14	33.83	
9	192-211	28.96	30.78	32.58	34.39	36.20	
10	212-231	30.98	32.93	34.86	36.80	38.73	
11	232-251	33.15	35.23	37.30	39.37	41.44	
12	252-271	35.47	37.70	39.91	42.13	44.35	
13	272-291	37.96	40.34	42.71	45.08	47.45	

Appendix B.1 – Hourly Salary Scale

January 1, 2017						
Increase Amoun	t:	2.25%				
Job Group	T.S.K. Point Range	Entry Level	Six Month	1 Year	2 Year	3 Year
5	112-131	22.18	24.03	25.88	27.73	
6	132-151	24.03	26.03	28.03	30.03	
7	152-171	25.87	27.49	29.09	30.72	32.33
8	172-191	27.67	29.41	31.14	32.86	34.59
9	192-211	29.61	31.47	33.32	35.16	37.01
10	212-231	31.68	33.67	35.65	37.63	39.60
11	232-251	33.90	36.03	38.14	40.26	42.38
12	252-271	36.27	38.55	40.81	43.08	45.34
13	272-291	38.81	41.25	43.67	46.09	48.52

Appendix B.1 – Hourly Salary Scale

January 1, 2018						
Increase Amoun	t:	2.50%				
Job Group	T.S.K. Point Range	Entry Level	Six Month	1 Year	2 Year	3 Year
5	112-131	22.74	24.63	26.53	28.42	
6	132-151	24.63	26.68	28.73	30.78	
7	152-171	26.52	28.17	29.82	31.49	33.13
8	172-191	28.36	30.14	31.91	33.69	35.46
9	192-211	30.35	32.25	34.15	36.04	37.94
10	212-231	32.47	34.51	36.54	38.57	40.59
11	232-251	34.75	36.93	39.10	41.27	43.44
12	252-271	37.18	39.51	41.83	44.15	46.48
13	272-291	39.78	42.28	44.76	47.25	49.73

APPENDIX "C" - COPE JOB TITLES

Job Group 5

Clerical Assistant

Job Group 6

Community Ambassador Mail Room Coordinator/First Aid

Job Group 7

Accounts Payable Clerk Administrative Assistant Cash & Banking Coordinator Drafter 1 (Drafter Progression)

Job Group 8

Application Programmer 1 (IS Application

Progression)

Drafter 2 (Drafter Progression)

Financial Assistant (TBR)

Fleet Analyst (TBR)

IT Data Coordinator

Land Assistant

Payroll Assistant (TBR)

Project Coordinator

Scheduling Assistant – System Control Centre Technician 1 (IS Technical Progression)

Training Coordinator (TBR)

Customer Information Systems (CIS)

Coordinator (TBR)

Engineering Assistant

Job Group 9

Application Programmer 2 (IS Application

Progression)

Business Assistant

Buyer (Material Services Progression)

Contract Assistant (TBR)

PowerSense Energy Efficiency Representative

Environmental Technician

Net Ops Coordinator

Payroll Administrator

System Scheduler, SCC

Technician 2 (IS Technical Progression)

Job Group 10

Analyst 1 (IS Application Progression)

AMFM Data Integrity Coordinator (Designer

Progression)

Business Analyst, Material Management (TBR)

Customer Service Systems Analyst (TBR)

Data Integrity Analyst

Design Technician 1(Designer Progression)

Engineering Technologist (Designer

Progression)

Financial Analyst

Inventory Control Analyst (Material Services

Progression)

Material Coordinator (Material Services

Progression)

Planner Scheduler

Technician 3 (IS Technical Progression)

Job Group 11

Accounting Services Representative

Analyst 2 (IS Application Progression)

Design Technician (Designer Progression)

Technical Analyst 1 (IS Technical Progression)

Monitor & Evaluation Analyst

Job Group 12

Analyst 3 (IS Application Progression)

Budget & Forecast Analyst

Business Analyst-Financial Systems

Contracts Specialist

Corporate Reporting Analyst (TBR)

Design Technologist (Designer Progression)

PowerSense Energy Management Technical

Advisor

Field Design Specialist

Protection & Control Technologist

Revenue & Margin Analyst (TBR)

Sr. Data Integrity Coordinator (Design

Progression)

Technical Analyst 2 (IS Technical Progression)

Job Group 13

Sr. Systems Analyst

Sr. Technical Analyst

LETTERS OF UNDERSTANDING

LOU 2 Re: Employment of Students

(Formerly Letter of Understanding No. 95-1)

Students employed during the regular holiday period of the educational institution to which they

have been admitted or are attending shall be employed for a duration not exceeding four (4)

months and must intend to return to their educational institution. During this period students may

be assigned, transferred, demoted or terminated as the Company requirements dictate, provided

that such assignment does not result in the demotion or displacement of any employee or would

result in the filling of a job vacancy that would normally be posted. Students shall not be entitled

to Floating Statutory Holidays, sick leave, long term disability or any of the benefit plans outlined

in Article 17 of this collective agreement.

In the case of a general reduction or layoff of bargaining unit employees at specific headquarters,

students shall be terminated before regular employees are displaced. The Company will provide

2 days notice or pay in lieu of notice to students terminated prior to the normal expiration of their

work term.

Compensation for students performing work under the COPE certification shall be at the Job

Group 5 entry level. If there is a requirement to have students work at a higher level than Job

Group 5 it is agreed that the parties will meet to determine the appropriate job group level.

Students must become and remain members of the Union as a condition of employment as

outlined in Article 2 of this agreement.

Students will qualify for designated stat holidays provided they are on active rolls at the time of

such holiday. Students will receive 8.0% of gross earnings in lieu of Statutory Holidays and

Vacation.

The Company will endeavor to advise the Union with at least 2 weeks advance notice prior to

employment of students.

Amended: December 4, 2013

77 | Page

LOU 3 Re: Call-out Rest Period

(Formerly Letter of Understanding No. 95-3)

On very rare occasions, COPE staff are called out to work in conjunction with I.B.E.W. crew call-

outs. On these occasions, if necessary, the following will apply:

(i) Where an employee commences overtime work earlier than four (4) hours prior to his

regular shift he shall be allowed a five (5) hour rest period immediately preceding the

start of his regular shift. If the employee's regular shift is scheduled to commence

before expiry of the five (5) hour rest period he will be permitted to remain at rest for

the rest period and will be paid his standard hourly rate for the hours of his regular shift

which falls within the rest period. The employee will receive his standard hourly rate

for the remainder of his regular shift which he works.

(ii) Where the employee is directed by his supervisor to return to work before he has

completed his five (5) hour rest period he shall be compensated at the overtime rate for

the time worked during the balance of time remaining in the five (5) hour rest period.

(iii) Where an employee returns to work for his regular shift or works into a regular day

without rest time, and without his supervisor's authorization to do so, the provisions of

(ii) will not apply.

The COPE agreement, however, does not address the issue of rest periods following emergency

call-outs.

The Company in its determination to treat all employees fairly, during an emergency call-out, is

prepared to pay COPE staff as per the above.

Amended: December 4, 2013

78 | Page

LOU 4 Re: Joint Job Evaluation System

(Formerly Letter of Understanding No. 96-1)

In order to clarify the time line associated with a Job Evaluation Request from start to finish, the Union agrees to the following:

(1) A Job Request Form be filled out by the incumbent, asking for this review. The Date on this Form is the basis for all future compensation arising from such evaluation.

Under our present system of the Joint Committee meeting at least twice per year, there is no reason for any Job Review Request not to be completed in any given calendar year. The responsibility is upon the incumbent to ensure that the job fact sheet and all dates required is returned to the Job Evaluation Coordinator in a timely fashion.

The Job Evaluation Coordinator is responsible to ensure that the incumbents are advised of upcoming Committee Meetings so that their information is available for review by this committee.

Should by chance any impediments to the above, which are beyond the control of the incumbent to facilitate a timely review, then the Language of the Collective Agreement Article 24.06 will apply for date of compensation.

The Job Request Form should be supplied by the Job Evaluation Committee Chair.

LOU 5 Re: Community Ambassador

FortisBC PowerSense Community Ambassador's will represent FortisBC Inc. PowerSense at community events and energy initiatives within communities throughout the FortisBC service area to promote energy efficiency and energy conservation programs. The parties recognize that the FortisBC PowerSense Community Ambassador's are a unique group of temporary part time employees who are hired on an as required basis and who require increased flexibility due to varied working hours and work days that are even specific. The parties agree to the following terms:

- 1. FortisBC PowerSense Community Ambassador's will be hired as temporary part time, Job Group 6.
- 2. A work day consists of any consecutive hours up to 7.5 hours, exclusive of lunch period, and may be scheduled between 6:00 and 22:00 at straight time rates. Time worked in excess of 7.5 hours per day or 37.5 hours per week will be compensated at overtime rates in accordance with the Collective Agreement.
- 3. A work week shall consist of up to 37.5 hours, consisting of up to five days, Monday through Sunday. Days worked in excess of five days in a work week will be compensated at overtime rates in accordance with the Collective Agreement.
- 4. Due to the nature of the work performed, regular weekend work is required. There is no limit on the number of weekends the FortisBC PowerSense Community Ambassador's work
 - FortisBC PowerSense Community Ambassador's will be assigned as permanent headquarter. Due to the nature of their work, they may work in various locations. Article 22.06 will not apply should the location they are working not require an overnight stay.
- 5. The Company will post the schedules at least two weeks in advance. If, due to legitimate business needs, it becomes necessary to vary a schedule with less than two weeks notice, the Company will ask for volunteers. Where no employee voluntarily accepts such a shift change, the Company will vary the schedule in an equitable manner and those impacted by the change will receive the following premiums:

Change in hours of work on a pre-scheduled day:

- 48 hours notice no penalty
- Less than 48 hours notice –overtime pay for the difference in shift
- In the case of a cancelled shift with less than 48 hours notice, a minimum of 2 hours will be paid.

Change in scheduled days off:

- Minimum of one week's notice no penalty
- Less than one week's notice compensated at overtime rates for hours worked on scheduled days off.
- 6. FortisBC PowerSense Community Ambassador's will receive vacation pay in accordance with Article 18 of the COPE Collective Agreement and 12% in lieu of benefits.
- 7. All other terms and conditions outlined in the COPE/FortisBC Collective Agreement will apply.
- 8. Either party may discontinue this LOU with 30 days written notice to the other party.

LOU 7 Re: Co-Operative Educational Students

(Formerly Letter of Understanding No. 96-3)

This will confirm the conditions with respect to the hiring of students under a Co-operative Education Program.

- 1. For the purposes of this letter, a co-op student is a student who is enrolled as an undergraduate, in a co-op program at a recognized College or University at all times during the period of employment.
- 2. It is the intent of the Parties that participation in this program will not adversely affect existing jobs or bargaining unit work. The employment of Co-op Educational Students shall not be utilized by the Company to avoid the creation, continuance or filling of any regular or temporary jobs as defined in the Collective Agreement.
- 3. Any co-op student employed under this Letter of Understanding, will have a maximum employment period that matches their education institution program. Each such period of continuous employment for each student shall be deemed to be one (1) work term.
- 4. Co-op students may be re-employed provided there is at least one co-op period of absence between periods of employment. In such instances, the co-op student will advance one level on the salary schedule noted below.
- 5. Co-op students will not be entitled to sick leave and will not participate in the benefits outlined in Article 17 or the Pension Plan. Co-op Education Students will not be entitled to apply for regular or temporary COPE bulletined positions.
- 6. Co-op students will qualify for designated stat holidays provided they are on active rolls at the time of such holiday. Co-op students will receive 8% of gross earnings in lieu of vacation and Statutory Holiday pay.
- 7. Either Party retains the right to discontinue participation in Co-operative education programs with four months notice to the other.
- 8. The COPE will be advised of the student's name, position and department prior to placement. Co-operative Educational Students shall receive salary treatment in accordance with the following schedule, which is based progressively on the number of Work Terms worked by each student:

WORK TERM	PAY GROUP
1	Group 5 Entry level
2	Group 5 6 mo. level
3	Group 5 1 yr. level
4	Group 5 2 yr. level

LOU 8 Re: Flexible Work Week

(Formerly Letter of Understanding WKP-OPEIU 97-1)

During the current set of negotiations, discussions centered around the feasibility of compressed

work schedules.

While neither the Company nor the Union had specific proposals to present during contract talks,

it was agreed that the topic warranted further dialogue and investigation.

The parties therefore accept that specific requests for compressed work arrangements which are

supported by the employee(s) and supervisor(s) will be a subject of discussion and perhaps

mutual acceptance by the parties during the term of this agreement.

Amended: December 4, 2013

82 | Page

LOU 11 Re: Technician/Technical Analyst (Information Systems)

Progression Schedule

	Technician 1	Technician 2	Technician 3	Technical Analyst 1	Technical Analyst 2	
Requirements	Job Group 8	Job Group 9	Job Group 10	Job Group 11	Job Group 12	
Minimum	2 Year	2 Year	2 Year	2 Year	2 Year	
Education	Diploma in	Diploma in	Diploma in	Diploma in	Diploma in	
	Computer or	Computer or	Computer or	Computer or	Computer or	
	Electronics	Electronics	Electronics	Electronics	Electronics	
	Technology	Technology	Technology	Technology	Technology	
Experience						
(external to	None	2 Years	4 years	N/A	N/A	
FBC) to start	None	2 i cais	4 years	IN/A	11/71	
in Position						
Experience (internal)						
before	2 Years	2 Years 2 Years 2 Years N/A				
progression	2 1 0015	2 1 0015	2 1 00.15	2 1 0015	1,712	
to next level						
<u>Notes</u>						
1			able represent the			
	educational requirements in the above schedule_for the given job group and					
		must be achieved prior to advancing to the next_level.				
2	New employees would not normally be hired into a position higher than JG 10-					
		2 year level. The exception to this would occur if a higher level position was				
	vacant and no c	qualified personn	el were available	e in house.		

Programmer/Systems Analyst (Information Systems)

Progression Schedule

	Application Programmer	Application Programmer 2	Analyst 1	Analyst 2	Analyst 3	
Requireme nts	Job Group 8	Job Group 9	Job Group 10	Job Group 11	Job Group 12	
Minimum	2 Year	2 Year	2 Year	2 Year	2 Year	
Education	Diploma in	Diploma in	Diploma in	Diploma in	Diploma in	
	Computer or	Computer or	Computer or	Computer or	Computer or	
	Electronics	Electronics	Electronics	Electronics	Electronics	
	Technology	Technology	Technology	Technology	Technology	
Experience						
(external to						
FBC) to	None	2 Years 4 years N/A N/A				
start in						
Position						
Experience						
(internal)						
before	2 Years	2 Years	2 Years	2 Years	N/A	
progression						
to next level						
<u>Notes</u>						
1	The skill levels outlined in the table represent the minimum experience and					
	education requirements as outlined in the above schedule for the given job group					
	and must be achieved prior to advancing to the next level.					
2	New employees would not normally be hired into a position higher than JG 10-2					
		exception to this			ition was	
	vacant and no qualified personnel were available in house.					

LOU 12 Re: DrafterProgression Schedule

	Drafter 1	Drafter 2		
Requirements	Job Group 7	Job Group 8		
Minimum Education				
	High School plus successful completion of design courses, such as Architectural & Building Engineering Technology, AutoCAD or Solidworks or educational equivalent.	1 year drafting certification program and design courses such as Architectural & Building Engineering Technology, AutoCAD or Solidworks or educational equivalent.		
Experience (external to FBC) to start in position	None	2 years		
Experience (internal) before progression to next level	2 years	<u>N/A</u>		
Notes 1	The skill levels outlined in the table represent the minimum experience and education requirements as outlined in the above schedule for the given job group and must be achieved prior to advancing to the next level.			
2	New employees would not normally be hired into a position higher than JG 8-2 year level.			
3	Educational equivalency will be	e determined by the Company.		

LOU 13 Re: Design Technician/Technologist/ Engineer Technologist / AMFM Data Integrity Coordinator

Progression Schedule (for Generation, Stations, Transmission and Distribution)

	Design Technician 1	Design Technician 2	Design/Engineer Technologist		
Requirements	Job Group 10	Job Group 11	Job Group 12		
Minimum Education	2 year electrical or mechanical engineering technical diploma or educational equivalent.	2 year electrical or mechanical engineering technical diploma or educational equivalent.	2 year electrical or mechanical engineering technical diploma or educational equivalent		
Experience (external to FBC) to start in position	None	2 years	4 years		
Experience (internal) before progression to next level	2 years	2 years	N/A		
Notes 1	The skill levels outlined in the table represent the minimum experience and education requirements as outlined in the above schedule_for the given job group and must be achieved prior to advancing to the next level.				
2	New employees would not normally be hired into a position higher than JG 11 - 2 year level. The exception to this would occur if a higher level position was available and there were no qualified personnel available in house.				
3	Educational equivalency v	vill be determined by the Co	ompany.		

LOU 14 Re: Material Services (Buyer, Inventory Analyst, Material Coordinator)

Progression Schedule

(Formerly Letter of Understanding WKP-OPEIU 2000-2)

Requirements	<u>Job Group 9</u>	Job Group 10	Job Group 11	Job Group 12			
Minimum	Supply	Supply Chain	Completion of Year	Completion of the			
Education	Management	Management	2 of the Strategic	Strategic Supply			
	Training with	Diploma as per the	Supply Chain	Chain Management			
	minimum of 3	PMAC program or	Management	Leadership Program			
	technical courses	educational	Leadership Program				
	and all soft skill	equivalent.	(SSCMLP) through	CPP designation			
	seminars and all		PMAC or	(name may change)			
	Business		educational	through PMAC or			
	Management		equivalent.	educational			
	Seminars through PMAC or	equivalent.					
	educational						
	equivalent.						
Experience	equi varent.						
(external to							
FBC) to start	2 years 4 years 6 years 8 years						
in Position							
Experience							
(internal)							
before	2 years	2 years	2 years	N/A			
progression to							
next level							
<u>Notes</u>							
	The skill levels outlined in the table represent the minimum experience and						
1	education requirements as outlined in the above schedule for the given job group						
		and must be achieved prior to advancing to the next level.					
2	New employees would not normally be hired into a position higher than JG 10-2 year level. The exception to this would occur if a higher level position was vacant						
		sonnel were available		position was vacant			
3							
<i>3</i>	Educational equivalency will be determined by the Company.						

LOU 15 Re: Seniority Calculation for Part-Time Regular Employees on Leaves of Absence

Listed in Article 14 of the Collective Agreement.

(Formerly Letter of Understanding No. 2007-1)

- 1) The parties agree that Part-Time Regular employees who take an approved Leave of Absence pursuant to Article 14 shall accrue seniority during such leave. The rate of seniority accrual shall be the same as the rate of seniority accrual during the 52 calendar weeks prior to the week in which the employee last works immediately prior to commencement of their leave. If the employee's last shift is mid-week the calculation period would conclude at end-of-day on the previous Saturday.
- 2) The total work hours accumulated by the employee during this 52 week calculation period will be divided by 52 for a weekly average. This average will be the rate of accrual during the employee's Leave of Absence.
- 3) In the event the employee has less than 52 weeks of continuous service the calculation period will be the employee's total length of service.
- 4) This Letter of understanding may be rendered void by either the Company or the Union giving the other party at least thirty calendar days prior written notice of such termination.
- 5) The parties agree that this letter is to take effect on a go-forward basis effective January 1, 2008
- 6) This Letter of Understanding shall be deemed to be incorporated into the Collective Agreement between the Company and the Union as if set forth therein in writing, and shall so apply.

LOU 16 Re: COPE and FORTISBC Inc. Labour Management Meetings

The parties agree that a consultative Forum (known as Labour Management Meetings) is established, maintained and scheduled to enable the parties to discuss issues for the purpose of improving the labour relations environment in FORTISBC Inc. This forum will be scheduled no less than two meetings per year.

There will be two designated senior representatives assigned from each party, one of which will be the President, COPE Local 378 (or designate) and the other, the Manager, Labour Relations (or designate). The designated representatives will coordinate their respective agendas prior to each meeting.

<u>Issues referred to the Labour Management Meeting as a result of bargaining are, Respect in the Workplace, Direct Relocation, Local Geographic Areas, Workload, Productivity and Sick Leave.</u>

Either party may submit other issues if they so desire.

The Parties will endeavor to work through the issue with the intent of coming to resolution. If the parties are unable to agree on a resolve of the issues either party may submit the issue to the next round of bargaining.

Signed December 4, 2013

A	J
Afternoon Shift – Article 28.0560	Job Classifications – Article 24 55
AMFM Data Integrity Coordinator Progression - LOU	Job Vacancies – Article 715
1386	Joint Job Evaluation System – LOU 479
Annual Salary Scale - Appendix A67	Joint Pension Committee - Article 31.0164 Jury Duty – Article 14.0227
В	T
Bi-Weekly Salary Scale – Appendix B70	L
Bumping – Article 11.02(e)21	Labour Management Meetings - LOU 16 89
1 5	Layoff & Recall – Article 1121
C	Leave of Absence - Article 1427
C	Long Term Disability - Article 1632, 34
Call-out Rest Period - LOU 378	LTD Employees Returning to Work – Article 16.11 33
Community Ambassador – LOU 580	
Compassionate leave – Article 14.0127	M
Contracting Out – Article 919	
Co-Operative Educational Students – LOU 781	M&E Relief Premium - Article 23.10 54
COPE Job Titles - Appendix C76	Management Rights - Article 3
	Material Services Progression – LOU 14
D	Maternity Leave - Article 14.06
	Medical Certificates - Article 16.11
Day Shift – Article 28.0560	Moving and Travelling Entitlements Article 22 47
Demotions - Article 23.0753	Moving Expenses – Article 22.07 48
Design Technician/Technologist Progression - LOU 13	••
	N
Discipline – Article 12	Night Shift – Article 28.0561
Drafter Progression - LOU 1285	Night Shift - Article 28.0301
Diditer Frogression 100 12	0
E	Overtime – Article 21 45
Education Leave - Article 14.0928	Overtime – Article 2143
Employment of Students - LOU 277	n.
Engineer Technologist Progression - LOU 1386	P
Expense Claims – Article 22.0647	Parental Leave - Article 14.0728
r	Part-Time Regular Employee – Article 6.03
F	Pension Contribution Rate– Article 31.04
Г	Pension Eligibility – Article 31.0465
First Aid Premiums - Article 23.1254	Pension Plan – Article 3164
Flex Benefits Program – Article 1735	Pension Plan Amendments – Article 31.03 64
Flexible Work Week – LOU 882	Performance Assessments – Article 12.07 25
Full-Time Employee Regular – Article 6.0213	Permanent Promotions - Article 23.04 52
	Personal Vehicles – Article 22.05 47
G	Personnel Files— Article 12.06
	Probationary Employee – Article 6.01
Grievance Procedure - Employee – Article 4.029	Programmer/Systems Analyst Progression – LOU 11
Grievance Procedure - Policy – Article 4.0410	Promotions Article 22.02
	Promotions - Article 23.03
Н	Frotective Clothing – Article 25
Hiring Rates – Article 23.0251	R
Hourly Salary Scale - Appendix B.173	45
Hours of Work , Dayworkers– Article 1530	Respectful Workplace – Article 8.03 17
Hours of Work and Conditions – Article 2860	Retiree Benefits - Article 17.05

S	Temporary Employee – Article 6.04	. 14
5	Temporary Promotions - Article 23.04	. 52
Safety Requirements – Article 2759	Temporary Work Leader Premium - Article 23.11	. 54
Salary Administration – Article 2351	Termination – Article 12	. 24
Salary Progression - Article 23.0652	Training – Article 26	. 58
Seniority – Article 511	Transfer – Article 12	. 24
Seniority Calculation for Part-Time Regular Employees	Travel - Company Business - Article 22.03(a)	. 47
on Leaves of Absence - LOU 1588	Travel - No Change in Lodging - Article 22.04	
Shift Change – Article 2962	Travel – Training – Article 22.03(b)	47
Shift Premium – Article 28.0661		
Shift Rotation – Article 28.0260	U	
Shift Work - Statutory Holidays - Article 28.0961	U	
Shiftwork – Article 2860	Union Recognition - Article 1	5
Short Term Shift Assignment – Article 15.0330	Union Security - Article 2	
Sick Leave – Article 16.0132	,	
Sick Leave Abuse - Article 16.1133	V	
Special Vacation – Article 1943	V	
Standby - Article 23.1354	Vacation – Article 18	41
Stat Holidays – Article 2044	vacation / whole 10 illimination	
Strikes or Lockouts – Article 1020	TA7	
	W	
T	Workday – Article 15.01	. 30
•	Working Hours – Article 28.04	
Technician/Technical Analyst Progression - LOU 11.83	Working Outside Bargaining Unit – Article 12.08	
Technological and Procedural Changes - Article 1326	Workweek – Article 15.02	
Temporary Change of Workshift – Article 28.0360		-